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Forward Looking Statements
The statements discussed in this report include forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You can identify these statements by
forward-looking words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “plans,” and “continue” or similar words. You should read
statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss our future expectations, contain projections of our future results of operations or of our
financial condition or state other “forward-looking” information.
We believe it is important to communicate our expectations to our investors. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able to
accurately predict or over which we have no control. The cautionary language in this annual report provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that
may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. You should be aware that the
occurrence or non-occurrence of events described in this annual report or detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition, including our ability to successfully
consummate a business combination, and the other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
PART I
Item 1.

Business.

Introduction
We are a Delaware blank check company incorporated on January 3, 2005, to serve as a vehicle for the acquisition of an operating business. Our efforts
in identifying a prospective target business are limited to a particular industry. Although our management has experience in a number of industries, its most
significant relationships and expertise are in the communications industry.
Our executive offices are located at One Fountain Square, 11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 590, Reston, Virginia 20190. Our telephone number is
(703) 995-5533. We do not currently have a website and consequently do not make available materials we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange
Commission. We will provide electronic or paper copies of such materials free of charge upon request.
The communications industry
The communications industry encompasses companies which create, produce, deliver, distribute and/or market communications services and content,
or provide equipment, software or technology which enables the creation and provisioning of communications services. Communications services consist of
any voice, data or video transmission regardless of the medium of transmission. Examples of segments of the communications industry include but are not
limited to:
•

wireline local and long distance telecommunications (including voice over internet protocol);

•

wireless voice and data;

•

cable and satellite radio and television;

•

network equipment software and hardware; and

•

information technology services and network outsourcing.

Effecting a Business Combination
General
1
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A business combination may involve the acquisition of, or merger with, a company which does not need substantial additional capital but which
desires to establish a public trading market for its shares, while avoiding what it may deem to be adverse consequences of undertaking a public offering itself.
These include time delays, significant expense, loss of voting control and compliance with various Federal and state securities laws. In the alternative, a
business combination may involve a company which may be financially unstable or in its early stages of development or growth.
We have not identified a target business.
To date, we have not selected any target business. Subject to the limitations that a target business has a fair market value of at least 80% of our net
assets at the time of the acquisition, as described below in more detail, we have virtually unrestricted flexibility in identifying and selecting a prospective
acquisition candidate.
Sources of target businesses
We anticipate that target business candidates will be brought to our attention from various unaffiliated sources, including securities broker-dealers,
investment bankers, venture capitalists, bankers and other members of the financial community, who may present solicited or unsolicited proposals. Our
officers and directors and their affiliates may also bring to our attention target business candidates. In no event, however, will we pay any of our existing
officers, directors, stockholders or any entity with which they are affiliated any finder’s fee or other compensation for services rendered to us prior to or in
connection with the consummation of a business combination.
Selection of a target business and structuring of a business combination
Subject to the requirement that our initial business combination must be with a target business with a fair market value that is at least 80% of our net
assets at the time of such acquisition, our management has virtually unrestricted flexibility in identifying and selecting a prospective target business. In
evaluating a prospective target business, our management will consider, among other factors, the following:
•

financial condition and results of operation;

•

growth potential;

•

experience and skill of management and availability of additional personnel;

•

capital requirements;

•

competitive position;

•

stage of development of the products, processes or services;

•

degree of current or potential market acceptance of the products, processes or services;

•

proprietary features and degree of intellectual property or other protection of the products, processes or services;

•

regulatory environment of the industry; and

•

costs associated with effecting the business combination.

These criteria are not intended to be exhaustive. Any evaluation relating to the merits of a particular business combination will be based, to the extent
relevant, on the above factors as well as other considerations deemed relevant by our management in effecting a business combination consistent with our
business objective. In evaluating a prospective target business, we will conduct an extensive due diligence review which will encompass,
2
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among other things, meetings with incumbent management and inspection of facilities, as well as review of financial and other information which will be
made available to us.
We will endeavor to structure a business combination so as to achieve the most favorable tax treatment to us, the target business and both companies’
stockholders. We cannot assure you, however, that the Internal Revenue Service or appropriate state tax authority will agree with our tax treatment of the
business combination.
The time and costs required to select and evaluate a target business and to structure and complete the business combination cannot presently be
ascertained with any degree of certainty. Any costs incurred with respect to the identification and evaluation of a prospective target business with which a
business combination is not ultimately completed will result in a loss to us and reduce the amount of capital available to otherwise complete a business
combination.
Fair Market Value of Target Business
The initial target business that we acquire must have a fair market value equal to at least 80% of our net assets at the time of such acquisition. The fair
market value of such business will be determined by our board of directors based upon standards generally accepted by the financial community, such as
actual and potential sales, earnings and cash flow and book value. If our board is not able to independently determine that the target business has a sufficient
fair market value, we will obtain an opinion from an unaffiliated, independent investment banking firm which is a member of the National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc. with respect to the satisfaction of such criteria. Since any opinion, if obtained, would merely state that fair market value meets the 80%
of net assets threshold, it is not anticipated that copies of such opinion would be distributed to our stockholders, although copies will be provided to
stockholders who request it. We will not be required to obtain an opinion from an investment banking firm as to the fair market value if our board of directors
independently determines that the target business does have sufficient fair market value.
Probable lack of business diversification
While we may seek to effect business combinations with more than one target business, our initial business combination must be with a target business
which satisfies the minimum valuation standard at the time of such acquisition, as discussed above. Consequently, it is probable that we will have the ability
to effect only a single business combination. Accordingly, the prospects for our success may be entirely dependent upon the future performance of a single
business. Unlike other entities which may have the resources to complete several business combinations of entities operating in multiple industries or
multiple areas of a single industry, it is probable that we will not have the resources to diversify our operations or benefit from the possible spreading of risks
or offsetting of losses. By consummating a business combination with only a single entity, our lack of diversification may:
•

subject us to numerous economic, competitive and regulatory developments, any or all of which may have a substantial adverse impact upon the
particular industry in which we may operate subsequent to a business combination, and

•

result in our dependency upon the development or market acceptance of a single or limited number of products, processes or services.

Limited ability to evaluate the target business’ management
Although we intend to closely scrutinize the management of a prospective target business when evaluating the desirability of effecting a business
combination, we cannot assure you that our assessment of the target business’ management will prove to be correct. In addition, we cannot assure you that the
future management will have the necessary skills, qualifications or abilities to manage a public company intending to embark on a program of business
development. Furthermore, the future role of our directors, if any, in the target business cannot presently be stated with any certainty. While it is possible that
one or more of our directors will remain associated in some capacity with us following a business combination, it is unlikely that any of them will devote
their full efforts to our affairs subsequent to a business combination. Moreover, we cannot assure you that our directors will have significant experience or
knowledge relating to the operations of the particular target business.
3
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Following a business combination, we may seek to recruit additional managers to supplement the incumbent management of the target business. We
cannot assure you that we will have the ability to recruit additional managers, or that additional managers will have the requisite skills, knowledge or
experience necessary to enhance the incumbent management.
Opportunity for Class B stockholder approval of business combination
Prior to the completion of a business combination, we will submit the transaction to our Class B stockholders for approval, even if the nature of the
acquisition would not ordinarily require stockholder approval under applicable state law. In connection with seeking Class B stockholder approval of a
business combination, we will furnish our Class B stockholders with proxy solicitation materials prepared in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, which, among other matters, will include a description of the operations of the target business and audited historical financial statements of the
business. These materials will also be mailed to the holders of our common stock although their vote will note be solicited.
In connection with the vote required for any business combination, all of our officers and directors who own Class B shares may vote their Class B
shares in any manner they determine, in their sole discretion. We will proceed with the business combination only if the Class B stockholders, who own at
least a majority of the shares of Class B common stock present in person or by proxy at a special meeting called to consider a proposed business combination,
vote in favor of the business combination and Class B stockholders owning less than 20% of the Class B shares sold in our initial public offering exercise
their conversion rights.
Conversion rights
At the time we seek Class B stockholder approval of any business combination, we will offer each Class B stockholder the right to have his or her
shares of Class B common stock converted to cash if he or she votes against the business combination and the business combination is approved and
completed. The holders of our common stock will not be entitled to seek conversion of their shares. The actual per-share conversion price will be equal to the
amount in the trust fund, inclusive of any interest, as of the record date for determination of Class B stockholders entitled to vote on the business
combination, divided by the number of Class B shares sold in our initial public offering. Including interest earned on the trust fund, the per-share conversion
price was $5.17 per share as of December 31, 2005. An eligible Class B stockholder may request conversion at any time after the mailing to our Class B
stockholders of the proxy statement and prior to the vote taken with respect to a proposed business combination at a meeting held for that purpose, but the
request will not be granted unless the Class B stockholder votes against the business combination and the business combination is approved and completed.
Any request for conversion, once made, may be withdrawn at any time up to the date of the meeting. It is anticipated that the funds to be distributed to
Class B stockholders entitled to convert their Class B shares who elect conversion will be distributed promptly after completion of a business combination.
Any Class B stockholder who converts his or her stock into his or her share of the trust fund still has the right to exercise the Class W and Class Z warrants
that he or she received as part of the Series B units. We will not complete any business combination if Class B stockholders, owning 20% or more of the
Class B shares sold in our initial public offering, exercise their conversion rights.
Distribution of trust fund to Class B stockholders if no business combination
If we do not complete a business combination within 12 months after the completion of our initial public offering in April 2005, or within 18 months if
the extension criteria described below have been satisfied, we will distribute to all of our Class B stockholders, in proportion to their respective equity
interests in the Class B common stock, an aggregate sum equal to the amount in the trust fund, inclusive of any interest, and all then outstanding Class B
common stock will be automatically cancelled. There will be no distribution from the trust fund with respect to our common stock or our Class W and Class Z
warrants. However, any remaining net assets following the distribution of the trust fund will be available for our use.
The distribution per Class B share, including interest earned on the trust fund, was $5.17 per share as of December 31, 2005. The proceeds deposited in
the trust fund could, however, become subject to the claims of our creditors which could be prior to the claims of our Class B stockholders. We cannot assure
you that the actual
4
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distribution per Class B share will not be less than $5.17 due to claims of creditors. If we are unable to complete a business combination and are forced to
distribute the proceeds held in trust to our Class B stockholders, each of Mr. Rhodric Hackman, our President, Mr. Lior Samuelson, our Executive Vice
President, and Mr. David Ballarini, our Chief Financial Officer, will be personally liable under certain circumstances to ensure that the proceeds in the trust
fund are not reduced by the claims of various vendors or other entities that are owed money by us for services rendered or products sold to us. However, we
cannot assure you that Messrs. Hackman, Samuelson or Ballarini will be able to satisfy those obligations. If we enter into either a letter of intent, an
agreement in principle or a definitive agreement to complete a business combination prior to the expiration of 12 months after the completion of our April
2005 initial public offering, but are unable to complete the business combination within the 12-month period, then we will have an additional six months in
which to complete the business combination contemplated by the letter of intent, agreement in principle or definitive agreement. If we are unable to do so by
the expiration of the 18-month period from the completion of our April 2005 initial public offering, we will then notify the trustee of the trust fund to
commence liquidating the investments constituting the trust fund and will turn over the proceeds to our transfer agent for distribution to our Class B
stockholders. We anticipate that our instruction to the trustee would be given promptly after the expiration of the applicable 12-month or 18-month period.
Our Class B stockholders shall be entitled to receive funds from the trust fund only in the event we do not complete a business combination or if the
Class B stockholders seek to convert their respective shares into cash upon a business combination which the Class B stockholder voted against and which is
actually completed by us. In no other circumstances shall a Class B stockholder have any right or interest of any kind to or in the trust fund. Holders of our
common stock will not be entitled to receive any of the proceeds held in the trust fund.
Competition
In identifying, evaluating and selecting a target business, we expect to encounter intense competition from other entities having a business objective
similar to ours. Many of these entities are well established and have extensive experience identifying and effecting business combinations directly or through
affiliates. Many of these competitors possess greater technical, human and other resources than us and our financial resources will be relatively limited when
contrasted with those of many of these competitors. While we believe there are numerous potential target businesses that we could acquire, our ability to
compete in acquiring certain sizable target businesses will be limited by our available financial resources. This inherent competitive limitation gives others
an advantage in pursuing the acquisition of a target business. Further:
•

our obligation to seek Class B stockholder approval of a business combination may delay the completion of a transaction;

•

our obligation to convert into cash shares of Class B common stock held by our Class B stockholders in certain instances may reduce the resources
available to us for a business combination; and

•

our outstanding warrants, and the future dilution they potentially represent, may not be viewed favorably by certain target businesses.

Any of these obligations may place us at a competitive disadvantage in successfully negotiating a business combination. Our management believes,
however, that our status as a public entity and potential access to the United States public equity markets may give us a competitive advantage over
privately-held entities having a similar business objective as us in acquiring a target business with significant growth potential on favorable terms.
If we succeed in effecting a business combination, there will be, in all likelihood, intense competition from competitors of the target business. In
particular, certain industries which experience rapid growth frequently attract an increasingly larger number of competitors, including competitors with
increasingly greater financial, marketing, technical and other resources than the initial competitors in the industry. The degree of competition characterizing
the industry of any prospective target business cannot presently be ascertained. We cannot assure you that, subsequent to a business combination, we will
have the resources to compete effectively, especially to the extent that the target business is in a high-growth industry.
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Employees
We have four executive officers, all of whom are also members of our board of directors. These individuals are not obligated to contribute any specific
number of hours to our matters and intend to devote only as much time as they deem necessary to our affairs. The amount of time they will devote in any time
period will vary based on the availability of suitable target businesses to investigate, although we expect each of them to devote an average of approximately
ten hours per week to our business. We do not intend to have any full time employees prior to the consummation of a business combination.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

We are a company with no operating history and very limited resources.
We are a recently incorporated company with no operating results to date. Since we do not have an operating history, you will have no basis upon
which to evaluate our ability to achieve our business objective, which is to acquire an operating business. We have not plans, arrangements or understanding
with any prospective acquisition candidates. We have no present revenue and will not generate any revenues (other than interest income) until, at the earliest,
after the consummation of a business combination.
If we are unable to complete a business combination, holders of our common stock will be unable to convert their securities and participate in the
distribution of the trust fund.
The trust fund is reserved for holders of our Class B common stock. Consequently, if we are unable to complete a business combination within 12
months after completion of our April 2005 initial public offering or within 18 months if we enter into a letter of intent prior to the expiration of the 12-month
period, the holders of our common stock will not be entitled to participate in the distribution of the trust fund. Furthermore, there will be no distribution from
the trust fund with respect to our outstanding Class W and Class Z warrants.
Shares of common stock will not be entitled to vote on a proposed business combination.
Holders of our common stock will not be entitled to vote on a proposed business combination with a target business. Only the Class B shareholders
will have an opportunity to approve a business combination. Consequently, holders of common stock will be entirely dependent upon the judgment of
Class B shareholders in determining whether or not a proposed business combination is approved.
Holders of our common stock are likely to lose all or substantially all of their investment if we do not complete a business combination.
If we are unable to complete a business combination and the trust fund is distributed to the Class B shareholders, we will be dissolved and our
remaining net assets will be distributed to the holders of common stock. It is likely, however, that our remaining net assets will be minimal following the
expenditures incurred in connection with the attempt to complete a business combination and accordingly such holders are likely to lose all or substantially
all of their investment.
You will not be entitled to protections normally afforded to investors of blank check companies.
We may be deemed to be a “blank check” company under the United States securities laws. However, since we have net tangible assets in excess of
$5,000,000, we are exempt from rules promulgated by the SEC to protect investors of blank check companies such as Rule 419. Accordingly, investors will
not be afforded the benefits or protections of those rules. Because we are not subject to Rule 419, we have a longer period of time to complete a business
combination in certain circumstances.
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If third parties bring claims against us, the proceeds held in trust could be reduced and the per-share distribution received by Class B stockholders will
be less than $5.17 per share.
Our placing of funds in trust may not protect those funds from third party claims against us. Although we will seek to have all vendors, prospective
target businesses or other entities we engage, execute agreements with us waiving any right, title, interest or claim of any kind in or to any monies held in the
trust fund for the benefit of our Class B stockholders, there is no guarantee that they will execute such agreements or that even if they execute such
agreements that they would be prevented from bringing claims against the trust fund. Nor is there any guarantee that such entities will agree to waive any
claims they may have in the future as a result of, or arising out of, any negotiations, contracts or agreements with us and will not seek recourse against the
trust fund for any reason. Accordingly, the proceeds held in trust could be subject to claims which could take priority over the claims of our Class B
stockholders. We cannot assure you that the per-share distribution from the trust fund will not be less than $5.17 due to claims of creditors. If we are unable to
complete a business combination and are forced to distribute the proceeds held in trust to our Class B stockholders, Rhodric Hackman, our President, Lior
Samuelson, our Executive Vice President, and David Ballarini, our Chief Financial Officer, will be personally liable under certain circumstances to ensure
that the proceeds in the trust fund are not reduced by the claims of various vendors or other entities that are owed money by us for services rendered or
products sold to us. However, we cannot assure you that Messrs. Hackman, Samuelson and Ballarini will be able to satisfy those obligations.
Since we are not limited to any particular industry or any target business with which to complete a business combination, we are unable to currently
ascertain the merits or risks of the industry in or business which we may ultimately operate.
We may consummate a business combination with a company in any industry we choose and are not limited to any particular industry or type of
business. Accordingly, there is no current basis for you to evaluate the possible merits or risks of the particular industry in which we may ultimately operate
or the target business which we may ultimately acquire. To the extent we complete a business combination with a financially unstable company or an entity
in its development stage, we may be affected by numerous risks inherent in the business operations of those entities. If we complete a business combination
with an entity in an industry characterized by a high level of risk, we may be affected by the currently unascertainable risks of that industry. Although our
management will endeavor to evaluate the risks inherent in a particular industry or target business, we cannot assure you that we will properly ascertain or
assess all of the significant risk factors.
We may issue shares of our capital stock or debt securities to complete a business combination, which would reduce the equity interest of our
stockholders and likely cause a change in control of our ownership.
Although we have no commitments as of the date of this report to issue our securities, we will, in all likelihood, issue a substantial number of
additional shares of our common stock or preferred stock, or a combination of common and preferred stock, to complete a business combination. The issuance
of additional shares of our common stock or any number of shares of our preferred stock:
•

may significantly reduce the equity interest of investors in this offering;

•

may subordinate the rights of holders of common stock if preferred stock is issued with rights senior to the common stock;

•

will likely cause a change in control if a substantial number of our shares of common stock are issued, which may affect, among other things, our
ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards, if any, and most likely also result in the resignation or removal of our present officers and
directors; and

•

may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Similarly, if we issue debt securities, it could result in:
•

default and foreclosure on our assets if our operating revenues after a business combination were insufficient to pay our debt obligations;
7
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•

acceleration of our obligations to repay the indebtedness even if we have made all principal and interest payments when due if the debt security
contains covenants that require the maintenance of certain financial ratios or reserves and any such covenant is breached without a waiver or
renegotiation of that covenant;

•

our immediate payment of all principal and accrued interest, if any, if the debt security is payable on demand; and

•

our inability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, if the debt security contains covenants restricting our ability to obtain additional
financing while such security is outstanding.

It is likely that our current officers and directors will resign upon consummation of a business combination and we will have only limited ability to
evaluate the management of the target business.
Our ability to successfully effect a business combination will be totally dependent upon the efforts of our key personnel. The future role of our key
personnel in the target business, however, cannot presently be ascertained. Although it is possible that some of our key personnel will remain associated in
various capacities with the target business following a business combination, it is likely that the management of the target business at the time of the business
combination will remain in place. Although we intend to closely scrutinize the management of a prospective target business in connection with evaluating
the desirability of effecting a business combination, we cannot assure you that our assessment of management will prove to be correct.
Our officers and directors may allocate their time to other businesses which could cause a conflict of interest as to which business they present a viable
acquisition opportunity to and may in the future become affiliated with entities engaged in business activities similar to those intended to be conducted
by us which may cause a conflict of interests in determining which entity a particular business opportunity should be presented to.
Our officers and directors are not required to commit their full time to our affairs, which may result in a conflict of interest in allocating their time
between our operations and other businesses. All of our executive officers are engaged in several other business endeavors and are not obligated to contribute
any specific number of hours to our affairs. Some of these persons may in the future become affiliated with entities, including other “blank check” companies,
engaged in business activities similar to those intended to be conducted by us. Our officers and directors may become aware of business opportunities which
may be appropriate for presentation to us as well as the other entities with which they may be affiliated. Accordingly, they may have conflicts of interest in
determining to which entity a particular business opportunity should be presented.
All of our officers and directors own securities which will not participate in the distribution of the trust fund and therefore they may have a conflict of
interest in determining whether a particular target business is appropriate for a business combination.
The common stock, Class W and Class Z warrants owned by our directors and officers will be worthless if we do not consummate a business
combination. The personal and financial interests of our directors and officers may influence their motivation in identifying and selecting a target business
and completing a business combination. Consequently, our directors’ and officers’ discretion in identifying and selecting a suitable target business may
result in a conflict of interest when determining whether the terms, conditions and timing of a particular business combination are appropriate and in our
stockholders’ best interest.
If our common stock and Class B common stock becomes subject to the SEC’s penny stock rules, broker-dealers may experience difficulty in completing
customer transactions and trading activity in our securities may be adversely affected.
If at any time we have net tangible assets of $5,000,000 or less and our common stock and Class B common stock has a market price per share of less
than $5.00, transactions in our common stock and Class B common stock may be subject to the “penny stock” rules promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Under these rules, broker-dealers who recommend such securities to persons other than institutional accredited investors must:
•

make a special written suitability determination for the purchaser;
8
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•

receive the purchaser’s written agreement to a transaction prior to sale;

•

provide the purchaser with risk disclosure documents which identify certain risks associated with investing in “penny stocks” and which describe
the market for these “penny stocks” as well as a purchaser’s legal remedies; and

•

obtain a signed and dated acknowledgment from the purchaser demonstrating that the purchaser has actually received the required risk disclosure
document before a transaction in a “penny stock” can be completed.

If our common stock and Class B common stock becomes subject to these rules, broker-dealers may find it difficult to effectuate customer transactions
and trading activity in our securities may be adversely affected. As a result, the market price of our securities may be depressed, and you may find it more
difficult to sell our securities.
It is probable that we will only be able to complete one business combination, which will cause us to be solely dependent on a single business and a
limited number of products or services.
The net proceeds from our initial public offering provided us with only $55,050,876 which we may use to complete a business combination. Our initial
business combination must be with a business with a fair market value of at least 80% of our net assets at the time of such acquisition. Consequently, it is
probable that we will have the ability to complete only a single business combination. Accordingly, the prospects for our success may be:
•

solely dependent upon the performance of a single business, or

•

dependent upon the development or market acceptance of a single or limited number of products, processes or services.

In this case, we will not be able to diversify our operations or benefit from the possible spreading of risks or offsetting of losses, unlike other entities
which may have the resources to complete several business combinations in different industries or different areas of a single industry.
Because of our limited resources and the significant competition for business combination opportunities, we may not be able to consummate a business
combination with growth potential.
We expect to encounter intense competition from other entities having a business objective similar to ours, including venture capital funds, leveraged
buyout funds and operating businesses competing for acquisitions. Many of these entities are well established and have extensive experience in identifying
and effecting business combinations directly or through affiliates. Many of these competitors possess greater technical, human and other resources than we do
and our financial resources will be relatively limited when contrasted with those of many of these competitors. While we believe that there are numerous
potential target businesses that we could acquire, our ability to compete in acquiring certain sizable target businesses will be limited by our available
financial resources. This inherent competitive limitation gives others an advantage in pursuing the acquisition of certain target businesses. Further, the
obligation we have to seek Class B stockholder approval of a business combination may delay the consummation of a transaction, and our obligation to
convert into cash the shares of Class B common stock in certain instances may reduce the resources available for a business combination. Additionally, our
outstanding Class W and Class Z warrants, and the future dilution they potentially represent, may not be viewed favorably by certain target businesses. Any
of these obligations may place us at a competitive disadvantage in successfully negotiating a business combination.
9
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We may be unable to obtain additional financing, if required, to complete a business combination or to fund the operations and growth of the target
business, which could compel us to restructure the transaction or abandon a particular business combination.
Although we believe that the funds in our trust fund will be sufficient to allow us to consummate a business combination, in as much as we have not
yet identified any prospective target business, we cannot ascertain the capital requirements for any particular transaction. If the funds in our trust fund prove
to be insufficient, either because of the size of the business combination or the depletion of the available net proceeds in search of a target business, or
because we become obligated to convert into cash a significant number of shares of Class B common stock from dissenting stockholders, we will be required
to seek additional financing. We cannot assure you that such financing would be available on acceptable terms, if at all. To the extent that additional
financing proves to be unavailable when needed to consummate a particular business combination, we would be compelled to restructure the transaction or
abandon that particular business combination and seek an alternative target business candidate. In addition, if we consummate a business combination, we
may require additional financing to fund the operations or growth of the target business. The failure to secure additional financing could have a material
adverse effect on the continued development or growth of the target business. None of our officers, directors or stockholders is required to provide any
financing to us in connection with or after a business combination.
Our loss of the services of any of H. Brian Thompson, Rhodric Hackman, Lior Samuelson and David Ballarini would make it more difficult to find a
suitable company for a business combination which makes it more likely that we will be forced to distribute the proceeds of our trust fund to our Class B
stockholders.
Our ability to successfully effect a business combination will be largely dependent upon the efforts of H. Brian Thompson, our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Rhodric Hackman, our President, Lior Samuelson, our Executive Vice President and David Ballarini, our Chief Financial Officer. We have
not entered into an employment agreement with any of Messrs. Thompson, Hackman, Samuelson and Ballarini, nor have we obtained any “key man” life
insurance on either of their lives. The loss of their services could have a material adverse effect on our ability to successfully achieve our business objectives,
including successfully consummating a business combination with Adventure Holdings or otherwise seeking a suitable target business to effect a business
combination.
Our outstanding warrants may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and make it more difficult to effect a business
combination.
In connection with our initial public offering, we issued warrants to purchase 16,330,000 shares of common stock. Our officers and directors and/or
certain of their affiliates have also purchased warrants to purchase 4,950,000 shares of common stock at $5.00 per share. We also issued an option to purchase
25,000 Series A units and/or 230,000 Series B units to the representative of the underwriters which, if exercised, will result in the issuance of an additional
710,000 warrants. To the extent we issue shares of common stock to effect a business combination, the potential for the issuance of substantial numbers of
additional shares upon exercise of these warrants could make us a less attractive acquisition vehicle in the eyes of a target business as such securities, when
exercised, will increase the number of issued and outstanding shares of our common stock and reduce the value of the shares issued to complete the business
combination. Accordingly, our warrants may make it more difficult to effectuate a business combination or increase the cost of the target business.
Additionally, the sale, or even the possibility of sale, of the shares underlying the warrants and options could have an adverse effect on the market price for
our securities or on our ability to obtain future public financing. If and to the extent these warrants are exercised, you may experience dilution to your
holdings.
Our securities are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, which may limit the liquidity and price of our securities more than if our securities were quoted
or listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market or a national exchange.
Our securities are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, an NASD-sponsored and operated inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities
not included in the Nasdaq Stock Market. Quotation of our securities on the OTC Bulletin Board will limit the liquidity and price of our securities more than
if our securities were quoted or listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market or a national exchange.
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Our obligations under laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and related regulations, may increase our cost of completing a business combination.
As a public company, we will be obligated to comply with laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure,
including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the National Association of
Securities Dealers. These laws and regulations may impose obligations that will increase the legal and financial costs required to consummate a business
combination and increase the time required to complete a transaction.
If we are deemed to be an investment company, we may be required to institute burdensome compliance requirements and our activities may be
restricted, which may make it difficult for us to complete a business combination.
If we are deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, our activities may be restricted, including:
•

restrictions on the nature of our investments; and

•

restrictions on the issuance of securities,

which may make it difficult for us to complete a business combination.
In addition, we may have imposed upon us burdensome requirements, including:
•

registration as an investment company;

•

adoption of a specific form of corporate structure; and

•

reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy and disclosure requirements and other rules and regulations.

We do not believe that our principal activities subject us to the Investment Company Act of 1940. To this end, the proceeds held in trust are only
invested by the trust agent in “government securities” with specific maturity dates. By restricting the investment of the trust funds to these instruments, we
believe we meet the requirements for the exemption provided in Rule 3a-1 promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940. If we were deemed to be
subject to the act, compliance with these additional regulatory burdens would require additional expense that we have not allotted for.
Our directors may not be considered “independent” under the policies of the North American Securities Administrators Association, Inc.
None of our officers or directors own more than 0.01% of our outstanding shares of common stock. Additionally, no salary or other compensation will
be paid to our officers or directors for services rendered by them on our behalf prior to or in connection with a business combination. Accordingly, we believe
each non-employee director is “independent” as that term is commonly used. However, under the policies of the North American Securities Administrators
Association, Inc., because each of our directors owns shares of our common stock and may receive reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by
them in connection with activities on our behalf such as identifying potential target businesses and performing due diligence on suitable business
combinations, state securities administrators could take the position that such individuals are not “independent.” If this were the case, they would take the
position that we would not have the benefit of independent directors examining the propriety of expenses incurred on our behalf and subject to
reimbursement. Additionally, there is no limit on the amount of out-of-pocket expenses that could be incurred and there will be no review of the
reasonableness of the expenses by anyone other than our board of directors, which would include persons who may seek reimbursement, or a court of
competent jurisdiction if such reimbursement is challenged. Although we believe that all actions taken by our
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directors on our behalf will be in our best interests, whether or not they are deemed to be “independent,” we cannot assure you that this will actually be the
case. If actions are taken, or expenses are incurred that are actually not in our best interests, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and
operations, and a material adverse effect on the price of stock held by the public stockholders.
Risks related to the communications industry
Our search for a target business is not limited to any particular industry. Although our management has experience in a number of industries, its most
significant relationships and expertise are in the communications industry. If we were to acquire a target company in the communications industry, we
believe the following risks would apply to us following the completion of a business combination.
Changes in technology may adversely affect our operations and financial condition following a business combination.
The communications industry is substantially affected by rapid and significant changes in technology. These changes may render certain existing
services and technologies used in the industry obsolete. We cannot assure you that the technologies used by or relied upon by a target business with which
we effect a business combination will not be subject to such obsolescence. While we may attempt to adapt and apply the services provided by the target
business to newer technologies, we cannot assure you that we will have sufficient resources to fund these changes or that these changes will ultimately prove
successful.
If, following a business combination, the products that we market or sell are not accepted by the public, our results of operations will be adversely
affected.
Certain segments of the communications industry are dependent on developing and marketing new products and services that respond to technological
and competitive developments and changing customer needs. We cannot assure you that the products and services of a target business with which we effect a
business combination will gain market acceptance. Any significant delay or failure in developing new or enhanced technology, including new product and
service offerings, could result in a loss of actual or potential market share and a decrease in revenues.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights following a business combination, competitors may be able to use our technology or
trademarks, which could weaken our competitive position.
If we are successful in acquiring a target business and the target business is the owner of proprietary programming, characters, software or technology,
our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and enforce intellectual property rights for those assets, both in the United States and in other
countries. In those circumstances, we may file applications for patents, copyrights and trademarks as our management deems appropriate. We cannot assure
you that these applications, if filed, will be approved, or that we will have the financial and other resources necessary to enforce our proprietary rights against
infringement by others. Additionally, we cannot assure you that any patent, trademark or copyright obtained by us will not be challenged, invalidated or
circumvented.
We may not be able to successfully compete in our desired industry which is characterized by the existence of large competitors and rapidly changing
technology.
There is substantial competition in all aspects of the communications industry. Numerous companies, most of which have substantially greater
financial resources available to them than we will, are already engaged in all aspects of the communications industry. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to compete successfully with others in the relevant market upon the successful acquisition of a target business.
We may not be able to comply with government regulations that may be adopted with respect to the communications industry.
Certain segments of the communications industry, including wireline and wireless communications networks, broadcast networks, cable networks and
radio stations, have historically been subject to substantial regulation at the
12
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Federal, state and local levels. In the past, the regulatory environment, particularly with respect to the telecommunications industry and the television and
radio industry, has been fairly rigid. We cannot assure you that regulations currently in effect or adopted in the future will not have a material adverse affect
on any target business acquired by us.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

The Company does not have any unresolved staff comments to report for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Item 2.

Properties.

We maintain our executive offices at One Fountain Square, 11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 590, Reston, Virginia 20190. The cost for this space is
included in the $7,500 per-month fee Mercator Capital L.L.C. charges us for general and administrative services pursuant to a letter agreement between us
and Mercator Capital L.L.C. We believe, based on rents and fees for similar services in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area, that the fee charged by
Mercator Capital L.L.C. is at least as favorable as we could have obtained from an unaffiliated person. We consider our current office space adequate for our
current operations.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

We are not party to any litigation, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that would have a material adverse effect on us or our business.
Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of securityholders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal period ended December 31, 2005.
PART II
Item 5.

Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our Series A units and Series B units have traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbols “MPAQU” and “MPABU,” respectively, since
April 15, 2005, the date of the initial public offering of our securities. On May 6, 2005, the common stock, Class B common stock, Class W warrants and
Class Z warrants included in the Series A units and Series B units commenced separate trading under the symbols “MPAQA,” “MPAQB,” “MPAQW” and
“MPAQL.” The closing high and low sales prices of our common stock, Class B common stock, Class W warrants and Class Z warrants as reported by the
OTC Bulletin Board, for the quarters indicated are as follows:
Common Stock
High
Low

2005
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$2.75
$3.00
$2.50

$2.25
$2.50
$2.25

Class B Common
Stock
High
Low

$ 4.85
$ 5.00
$ 5.03

$ 4.75
$ 4.76
$ 4.88

Class W
Warrants
High
Low

$0.41
$0.38
$0.45

$ 0.36
$ 0.35
$0.345

Class Z
Warrants
High
Low

$0.45
$0.52
$0.52

$0.40
$0.40
$0.36

Series A Units
High
Low

$11.10
$ 9.70
$13.50

$9.16
$9.00
$8.85

Series B Units
High
Low

$10.75
$10.60
$10.90

$10.20
$10.15
$10.20

The trading of our securities, especially our Class W warrants and Class Z warrants, is limited, and therefore there may not be deemed to be an
established public trading market under guidelines set forth by the Securities and Exchange Commission. As of March 9, 2005, there were 5 stockholders of
record of our common stock, 1 stockholder of record of our Class B common stock, 8 holders of record of our Class W warrants, 8 holders
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of record of our Class Z warrants, 1 holder of record of our Series A Units and 1 holder of records of our Series b Units. Such numbers do not include beneficial
owners holding shares, units or warrants through nominee names.
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock or Class B common stock, nor do we anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The following tables should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The selected financial data has been derived from our financial statements, which have been audited by J.H. Cohn LLP, independent registered
public accounting firm, as indicated in their report included elsewhere herein.
From Inception
(January 3, 2005) to
December 31, 2005

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue
Operating Loss
Interest Income
Provision for income taxes
Net Income
Earnings per Share Data:
Weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding,
Net income per share, basic and diluted
Other Financial Data:
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net proceeds from sale of units through public offering allocable to stockholders’ equity
Portion of net proceeds from public offering allocable to common stock subject to possible
conversion

$

$
$

—
(358,892)
1,258,203
307,000
592,311
8,434,067
0.07
(486,772)
(53,429,000)
44,370,419
10,680,457

December 31, 2005

Selected Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Common stock, subject to possible conversion to cash
Total stockholders’ equity
Item 7.

$

1,383,204
56,100,887
10,926,022
44,970,832

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and footnotes thereto contained in this report.
General
We were formed on January 3, 2005 to serve as a vehicle to effect a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition or other similar business
combination with a currently unidentified operating business. On April 15, 2005, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 575,000 Series A Units
(“Series A Units”) and 5,290,000 Series B Units (“Series B Units”), including 75,000 Series A Units and 690,000 Series B Units issued upon exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option. Each Series A Unit consists of two shares of common stock, $.0001 par value per share (“Common Stock”), five Class W
warrants (“Class W Warrants”), each to purchase one share of Common Stock, and five Class Z warrants (“Class Z Warrants”), each to purchase one share of
Common Stock. Each Series B Unit consists of two shares of Class B Common Stock, $.0001 par value per share, one Class W Warrant and one Class Z
Warrant. Each Class W Warrant and Class Z Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of our common stock at a price of $5.00 per share. Our net
proceeds from the initial public offering, including
14
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the exercise of the over allotment option, totaled $55,050,876 which was net of $4,415,624 in underwriting and other expenses.
For a description of the proceeds generated in our IPO and a discussion of the use of such proceeds, we refer you to Notes 1 and 2 of the financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
Operations
Net income for the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005 of $592,311 consisted of interest income on the Trust Fund
investment of $1,222,872 and interest on cash and cash equivalents of $35,331, offset by professional fees of $82,417 and other operating expenses of
$276,475, consisting of $67,500 for a monthly administrative services agreement with an affiliate, $73,334 for officer liability insurance, $31,359 for travel,
$75,584 for Delaware franchise tax and $28,698 for other expenses, and $307,000 for income taxes.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We consummated our initial public offering on April 15, 2005. Gross proceeds from our initial public offering, including the full exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option, were $59,466,500. After deducting offering expenses of $4,415,624 including $517,100 representing the underwriters’
non-accountable expense allowance of 1% of the gross proceeds, and underwriting discounts of $3,567,990, net proceeds were $55,050,876. Of this amount,
$53,429,000 was placed in a trust account and the remaining proceeds are available to be used to provide for business, legal and accounting due diligence on
prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administrative expenses. We will use substantially all of the net proceeds of this offering to acquire a
target business, including identifying and evaluating prospective acquisition candidates, selecting the target business, and structuring, negotiating and
consummating the business combination. To the extent that our capital stock is used in whole or in part as consideration to effect a business combination, the
proceeds held in the trust fund as well as any other net proceeds not expended will be used to finance the operations of the target business. We believe that
we have sufficient available funds outside of the trust fund to operate through April 10, 2006, assuming that a business combination is not consummated
during that time. We do not believe we will need to raise additional funds following the initial public offering in order to meet the expenditures required for
operating our business purpose.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our contractual obligations are set forth in the following table as of December 31, 2005:

Contractual Obligations

Total

Administrative services agreement(1)
Total
(1)

$30,000
$30,000

Payment due by period
Less than
1-3
3-5
1 year
years
years

More than
5 years

$30,000
$30,000

$

$ 0
$ 0

—
$—

—
—

We are obligated, having commenced April 15, 2005, to pay to Mercator Capital LLC, an affiliate of certain stockholders, directors and officers, a
monthly fee of $7,500 for office, secretarial and administrative services. If we enter into a letter of intent, agreement in principal or definitive agreement
to consummate a business combination we will be obligated to pay up to an additional $45,000 to Mercator Capital LLC.
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If we do not complete a business combination within 12 months after the completion of our initial public offering in April 2005, or within 18 months if
certain extension criteria have been satisfied, we will distribute to all of our Class B stockholders, in proportion to their respective equity interests in the
Class B common stock, an aggregate sum equal to the amount in the Trust Fund, inclusive of any interest, and all then outstanding Class B common stock
will be automatically cancelled. There will be no distribution from the Trust Fund with respect to our common stock or our Class W and Class Z warrants.
However, any remaining net assets following the distribution of the Trust Fund will be available for our use to pay any creditors and to effect our dissolution
and liquidation. The distribution per Class B share, taking into account interest, earned on the Trust Fund, is approximately $5.17 per share based on the
value in the Trust Fund as of December 31, 2005.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 3 to our financial statements included elsewhere in this report. We believe the following critical
accounting polices involved the most significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents - We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Investments - Investments held in the Trust Fund consist of investments acquired, which are included in the Trust Fund, with maturities exceeding three
months but less than three years. While our intent is to hold debt securities to maturity, consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, we classify all debt securities and all investments in equity securities
that have readily determinable fair values as available-for-sale, as the sale of such securities may be required prior to maturity to implement our strategies.
Income Taxes - We follow Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (“SFAS No. 109”), “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in future taxable or
deductible amounts and are based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
Net Income Per Share - Net income per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common stock and Class B common stock
outstanding for the period, including common stock equivalents (unless anti-dilutive), which would arise from the exercise of stock warrants.
Basic earnings (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income (loss) available to common and common, Class B stockholders by the
weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings
of the entity. For all periods presented, since the effect of the assumed exercise of 21,280,000 of outstanding warrants to purchase common stock and the
outstanding UPO to purchase 25,000 Series A Units and 230,000 Series B Units is anti-dilutive, as their exercise prices are greater than the average market
price of common stock during the period, they have been excluded from the Company’s computation of fully diluted net income per share. Therefore, basic
and diluted income per share were the same for the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005.
Use of Estimates and Assumptions - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can,
and in many cases will, differ from those estimates.
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Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices. We do
not believe we are exposed to significant market risk.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Reference is made to pages F-1 through F-12 comprising a portion of this annual report on Form 10-K.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures.

Our management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of H. Brian Thompson, our principal executive officer and David Ballarini, our
principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005. Based upon that evaluation, Messrs.
Thompson and Ballarini concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in
the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) under the
Exchange Act that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information.

Not applicable.
PART III
Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Our current directors, executive officers and special advisors are as follows:
Name

Age

Position

H. Brian Thompson
Rhodric C. Hackman
Lior Samuelson
David Ballarini
Morgan E. O’Brien
Alex Mandl

66
58
56
42
61
62

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
President, Secretary and Director
Executive Vice President and Director
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
Special Advisor
Special Advisor

H. Brian Thompson has been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since our inception. Since January 2003, Mr. Thompson also has been the
Chairman of Comsat International, one of the largest independent telecommunications operators serving Latin America. Comsat, acquired from Lockheed
Martin in a transaction completed in October 2002, provides international data and voice communications services to commercial customers and other
telecommunications carriers through a fully integrated fiber, wireless, and satellite network. Mr. Thompson has also been the Chief Executive Officer of
Universal Telecommunications, Inc., a private equity investment and advisory firm, focused on consolidations and start-up companies in the communications
industry, since he formed it in June 1991. Since October 1998, Mr. Thompson has also served as the Co-Chairman for the Americas of the Global Information
Infrastructure Commission, a multinational organization comprised of international communication industry professionals, the strategic objective of which is
to chart the role of the private
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sector in the developing global information and telecommunications infrastructure. From March 1999 to September 2000, Mr. Thompson was Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Global TeleSystems, Inc. (formerly Global TeleSystems Group, Inc.), a provider of broadband, internet and voice services, serving
businesses and carriers throughout Europe. In November 2001, Global TeleSystems filed a petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code in response to an involuntary petition previously filed by certain of its debentureholders. From June 1999 to September 2000,
Mr. Thompson served as Chairman of Golden Telecom, Inc. (NASDAQ:GLDN), which completed its initial public offering in September 1999 after being
formed in June 1999 to be the holding company for all of Global TeleSystems’ businesses in Russia and other countries in the former Soviet Union. From
1991 to June 1998, Mr. Thompson served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of LCI International, Inc., which became a leading telecommunications
provider during his tenure. In June 1998, LCI merged with Qwest Communications International Inc. and until December 1998, Mr. Thompson served as Vice
Chairman of the board of Qwest. From 1981 to 1990, Mr. Thompson served as Executive Vice President of MCI Communications Corporation, with
responsibility for eight operating divisions, including MCI International. Mr. Thompson was previously a management consultant specializing in
telecommunications and technology enterprises with McKinsey & Company, a management consulting firm.
Mr. Thompson currently serves as a member of the board of directors of the following public companies: Sonus Networks, Inc. (NASDAQ: SONS),
United Auto Group Inc. (NYSE: UAG), Axcelis Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ: ACLS), and Bell Canada International, Inc. (NEX: BI.H). Mr. Thompson also
serves as a member of the board of directors of ArrayComm, Inc., a privately held company engaged in the development of broadband wireless technology.
Mr. Thompson is a trustee of Capitol College in Laurel, Maryland, and serves as a member of the Irish Prime Minister’s Ireland-America Economic Advisory
Board. Mr. Thompson formerly served on the boards of DynCorp, Williams Communications Group, Inc. and Comcast UK Cable Partners Limited.
Mr. Thompson is a former Chairman of the U.S. Competitive Telecommunications Association (CompTel) and also served as Chairman of both the Advisory
Committee for Telecommunications and, more recently, the Advisory Committee on Infocoms, for Ireland’s Department of Public Enterprise. From January
1999 to March 1999, Mr. Thompson was the non-executive Chairman of Telecom Eireann, Ireland’s incumbent telephone company. Mr. Thompson received
a B.S. from the University of Massachusetts and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
Rhodric C. Hackman has been our President, Secretary and a Director since our inception. In October 1999, Mr. Hackman co-founded Mercator Capital
L.L.C., a merchant and investment bank focused on communications, media and technology. Mr. Hackman has been a partner of Mercator Capital and its
affiliates since formation. In January 1991, Mr. Hackman co-founded Hackman, Baring & Co. Incorporated, a boutique investment bank specializing in the
communications industry. Mr. Hackman served as a principal of Hackman, Baring & Co. until it was sold to PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities in September
1997. From the date of the sale until September 1999, Mr. Hackman served as Co-Head of Communications & Media in the investment banking group at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities. From June 1993 to March 1995, Mr. Hackman was President and a member of the board of directors of HB
Communications Acquisition Corp., a blank check company with an objective to acquire an operating business in the communications industry. From 1981
to 1990, Mr. Hackman served as Co-Head of Communications in the investment banking group at Kidder, Peabody & Co., an investment banking firm.
Mr. Hackman received a B.S. from the United States Naval Academy and an M.B.A. from Cornell University.
Lior Samuelson has been our Executive Vice President and a Director since our inception. In October 1999, Mr. Samuelson co-founded Mercator
Capital and has been a partner of it and its affiliates since formation. From 1997 until 1999, Mr. Samuelson was President and Chief Executive Officer of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Samuelson served as Chief Executive Officer of Barents Group, a merchant bank and advisory
firm specializing in assisting companies in emerging markets. Barents Group was a subsidiary of KPMG which grew to approximately 400 professionals. In
1985, Mr. Samuelson joined PEG Group, a company that specialized in developing simulation software and services, which was sold to KPMG in December
1986. Mr. Samuelson became a partner of KPMG in 1986, and served as a partner of KPMG until 1994. From 1980 until 1985, Mr. Samuelson served in a
senior management position with Booz, Allen & Hamilton, a management consulting firm. Since August 2001, Mr. Samuelson has served as a Director of
Deltathree, Inc. (NASDAQ:DDDC), an internet telephony company, and, since April 2001, as a Director of Civcom, a privately held telecommunication
equipment company. Mr. Samuelson received a B.S. and an M.S. from Virginia Tech.
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David Ballarini has been our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and a Director since our inception. In October 1999, Mr. Ballarini co-founded Mercator
Capital L.L.C. and has been a partner of it and its affiliates since formation. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Ballarini served as Director of Strategy and Corporate
Development at PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities. From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Ballarini served as an engagement manager of McKinsey & Company, a
management consulting firm, where he specialized in advising companies across various industries on growth strategy development, including executing
strategic acquisitions and divestitures as well as leading post-merger integration activities. From 1991 to 1993, Mr. Ballarini attended business school. From
1985 until 1991, Mr. Ballarini was involved in several key defense technology programs including aircraft and aerospace system development initiatives as a
senior project manager at Atlantic Research Corporation and the United States Naval Air Development Center. Mr. Ballarini received a B.S.E. from Princeton
University, an M.S.A.E. from Georgia Tech as well as an M.B.A. from The Wharton School.
Morgan E. O’Brien has served as a Special Advisor to us since January 2005. Mr. O’Brien has served as Vice Chairman of Nextel (NASDAQ:NXTL)
since 1996. Mr. O’Brien co-founded what would become Nextel (Fleet Call) in 1987 and served as Chairman of the Board through 1996. From 1987 to 1994,
Mr. O’Brien also served as General Counsel of Nextel. Mr. O’Brien was with the firm of Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue from January 1986 to January 1990,
during which time he served as the partner-in-charge of the firm’s telecommunications practice. Mr. O’Brien also served as a consultant to Jones, Day,
Reavis & Pogue from January 1990 to October 1991. From June 1979 until April 1987, Mr. O’Brien was in private legal practice and represented major
specialized mobile radio operators in proceedings before the Federal Communications Commission. From October 1970 to June 1979, Mr. O’Brien served in
a variety of legal and managerial positions with the FCC in the areas of private radio and radio common carrier administration. Mr. O’Brien began his career
as a lawyer with the Mobile Services Division of the FCC in 1970 where he assisted in establishing the rules and procedures for all land mobile services.
Mr. O’Brien currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Trustees of The Field School in Washington, DC, and is also a member of the law board of
Northwestern University School of Law. Mr. O’Brien received an A.B. in Classical Studies from Georgetown University and a J.D. from Northwestern
University.
Alex Mandl has served as a Special Advisor to us since January 2005. Since September 2002, Mr. Mandl has served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Gemplus International S.A. (NASDAQ:GEMP), a leading provider of smart card technologies serving the wireless, financial services, identification
and security markets, and, since October 2002, as a Director of Gemplus International. From April 2001 through August 2002, Mr. Mandl was a principal in
ASM Investments focusing on technology investments. From 1996 to March 2001, Mr. Mandl served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Teligent
Inc., a company he started in 1996 which offered the business markets an alternative to the local Bell Companies for telecommunication/internet services.
With the collapse of the new competitive local exchange carrier industry and the closing of the capital markets for this sector, on May 21, 2001, Teligent
filed for voluntary reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. From 1991 to 1996, Mr. Mandl was with AT&T where he served as
President and Chief Operating Officer with responsibility for long distance, wireless, local communications and internet services. Prior to this position,
Mr. Mandl was AT&T’s Chief Financial Officer. Between 1987 and 1991, Mr. Mandl was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sea-Land Services, Inc., a
provider of ocean transport services. In 1980, he joined Seaboard Coastline Industries, a diversified transportation company, as Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Mandl began his career in 1969, when he joined Boise Cascade Corp. as a merger and acquisition analyst, and he held various
financial positions during the next eleven years. Mr. Mandl serves on the boards of Dell Inc. (NASDAQ:DELL), the Walter A. Haas School of Business at the
University of California at Berkeley, Willamette University and the American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research. Mr. Mandl holds a B.A. in
economics from Willamette University in Salem, Oregon and an M.B.A. from the University of California at Berkeley.
Our board of directors is divided into three classes with only one class of directors being elected in each year and each class serving a three-year term.
The term of office of the first class of directors, consisting of Lior Samuelson, will expire at our first annual meeting of stockholders. The term of office of the
second class of directors, consisting of David Ballarini, will expire at the second annual meeting. The term of office of the third class of directors, consisting
of Rhodric Hackman and H. Brian Thompson, will expire at the third annual meeting.
These individuals will play a key role in identifying and evaluating prospective acquisition candidates, selecting the target business, and structuring,
negotiating and consummating its acquisition. We believe that the
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skills and expertise of these individuals, their collective access to acquisition opportunities and ideas, their contacts, and their transactional expertise should
enable them to successfully identify and effect an acquisition.
We do not have an audit committee of our Board of Directors nor do we have an audit committee financial expert, because we do not believe the nature
of our business is such that an audit committee or audit committee financial expert would be useful or necessary. Furthermore, our equity securities are not
listed on an exchange or automated quotation system that requires its listed companies to appoint an audit committee.
We have not adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer or principal financial officer, or persons performing similar
functions, primarily because we do not and will not have any operations until such time as we enter into a business combination. We intend to adopt a Code
of Ethics at or prior to such time as we enter into a business combination.
Conflicts of Interest
Investors and security holders should be aware of the following potential conflicts of interest:
•

None of our officers and directors are required to commit their full time to our affairs and, accordingly, they may have conflicts of interest in
allocating management time among various business activities.

•

In the course of their other business activities, our officers and directors may become aware of investment and business opportunities which may
be appropriate for presentation to us as well as the other entities with which they are affiliated. They may have conflicts of interest in determining
to which entity a particular business opportunity should be presented.

•

Our officers and directors may in the future become affiliated with entities, including other blank check companies, engaged in business activities
similar to those intended to be conducted by us.

•

Since our directors own warrants that are subject to lock-up agreements restricting their sale until a business combination is successfully
completed or the trust fund is distributed to our Class B stockholders, our board may have a conflict of interest in determining whether a particular
target business is appropriate to effect a business combination.

•

The personal and financial interests of our directors and officers may influence their motivation in identifying and selecting a target business, and
completing a business combination in a timely manner.

In general, officers and directors of a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware are required to present business opportunities to
a corporation if:
•

the corporation could financially undertake the opportunity;

•

the opportunity is within the corporation’s line of business; and

•

it would not be fair to the corporation and its stockholders for the opportunity not to be brought to the attention of the corporation.

Accordingly, as a result of multiple business affiliations, our officers and directors may have similar legal obligations relating to presenting business
opportunities meeting the above-listed criteria to multiple entities. In addition, conflicts of interest may arise when our board evaluates a particular business
opportunity with respect to the above-listed criteria. We cannot assure you that any of the above mentioned conflicts will be resolved in our favor.
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In order to minimize potential conflicts of interest which may arise from multiple corporate affiliations, each of our officers and directors has agreed,
until the earlier of a business combination or the distribution of the trust fund to the Class B stockholders, or such time as he ceases to be an officer or
director, to present to us for our consideration, prior to presentation to any other entity, any suitable business opportunity which may reasonably be required
to be presented to us subject to any pre-existing fiduciary or contractual obligations he might have.
To further minimize potential conflicts of interest, we have agreed not to consummate a business combination with an entity which is affiliated with
any of our officers and directors unless we obtain an opinion from an independent investment banking firm that the business combination is fair to our
stockholders from a financial point of view.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

No executive officer has received any cash compensation for services rendered. We pay Mercator Capital L.L.C., an affiliate of Messrs. Hackman,
Samuelson and Ballarini, a fee of $7,500 per month for providing us with office space and certain office and secretarial services. However, this arrangement is
solely for our benefit and is not intended to provide any of Messrs. Hackman, Samuelson and Ballarini compensation in lieu of a salary. No other executive
officer or director has a relationship with or interest in Mercator Capital L.L.C. Other than this $7,500 per month fee, no compensation of any kind, including
finder’s and consulting fees, will be paid to any of our officers and directors, or any of their respective affiliates, for services rendered prior to or in connection
with a business combination. However, our officers and directors will be reimbursed for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with activities on
our behalf such as identifying potential target businesses and performing due diligence on suitable business combinations. There is no limit on the amount of
these out-of-pocket expenses and there will be no review of the reasonableness of the expenses by anyone other than our board of directors, which includes
persons who may seek reimbursement, or a court of competent jurisdiction if such reimbursement is challenged. Because none of our directors will be deemed
“independent,” we will generally not have the benefit of independent directors examining the propriety incurred on our behalf and subject to reimbursement.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth information as of March 9, 2006, based on information known to us, with respect to the beneficial ownership of shares of
our common stock or Class B common stock by (i) each person known by us to be the owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of common stock or
Class B common stock, (ii) each director and (iii) all officers and directors as a group. Except as indicated in the footnotes to the table, the persons named in
the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock and Class B common stock shown as beneficially owned by
them.
Common Stock
Number
Percent

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Pentagram Partners, L.P. (1)
630 Fifth Avenue, 20 th Floor,
New York, NY 10111
Amaranth LLC (2)
c/o Amaranth Advisors L.L.C,
One American Lane,
Greenwich, CT 06831
H. Brian Thompson
1950 Old Gallows Road,
Vienna, Virginia 22182
Rhodric C. Hackman (4)
Lior Samuelson (4)
David Ballarini (4)
Morgan E. O’Brien (4)
Alex Mandl (4)
All executive officers and directors as a group (4 persons)

113,8000

—
4,025(3)
25(5)
25(6)
25(7)
(8)
(9)
4,100(10)

9.90%

—
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Class B Common Stock
Number
Percent

—

662,700
4,000
—
—
—
—
—
4,000

—

6.3%
*
—
—
—
—
—
*

*

Less than 1%

(1)

Based on information contained in a Schedule G filed by Pentagram Partners, L.P. in April 2005, Pentagram Partners has sole power to vote or to direct
the vote, and sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of 113,800 shares of our common stock.
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(2)

Based on information contained in a Schedule G filed by Amaranth L.L.C., Amaranth Advisors L.L.C., and Nicholas M. Maounis in December 2005, as
amended by Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13G, which was filed in February 2006, Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. is the trading Advisor for Amaranth LLC
and has been granted investment discretion over portfolio investments, including the 622,700 shares of our Class B common stock held by Amaranth
LLC. Mr. Maounis is the managing member of Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. and may be deemed to have power to direct the vote and disposition of the
622,700 shares of our Class B common stock held by Amaranth LLC.

(3)

Includes 25 shares of common stock owned by Universal Telecommunications, Inc. Mr. Thompson is the Chief Executive Officer and majority
shareholder of Universal Telecommunications, Inc. The shares of Universal Telecommunications, Inc. not held by Mr. Thompson are owned by
members of his family. Does not include 1,236,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Universal
Telecommunications, Inc. which are not exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.

(4)

The beneficial owner’s address is c/o Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp., One Fountain Square, 11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080, Reston, Virginia
20190.

(5)

Includes 25 shares of common stock owned by the Hackman Family Trust. Mr. Hackman and his spouse are the trustees of the Hackman Family Trust,
the beneficiaries of which are members of the Hackman family. Does not include 990,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W
and Class Z warrants held by the Hackman Family Trust which are not exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days. Also does not
include 667,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Mercator Capital L.L.C. which are not
exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.

(6)

Does not include 990,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Mr. Samuelson which are not
exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days. Also does not include 667,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class
W and Class Z warrants held by Mercator Capital L.L.C. which are not exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.

(7)

Does not include 990,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Mr. Ballarini which are not
exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days. Also does not include 667,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class
W and Class Z warrants held by Mercator Capital L.L.C. which are not exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.

(8)

Does not include 50,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Mr. O’Brien which are not
exercisable and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.
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(9)

Does not include 50,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants held by Mr. Mandl which are not exercisable
and will not be exercisable within the next 60 days.

(10) Does not include 4,950,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Class W and Class Z warrants which are not exercisable and will not be
exercisable within the next 60 days.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Prior to our initial public offering on April 15, 2005, we issued 100 shares of common stock for $500 in cash, or a purchase price of $5.00 per share. We
also issued 2,475,000 Class W warrants and 2,475,000 Class Z warrants for $247,500 in cash, at a purchase price of $0.05 per warrant. These securities were
issued to the individuals set forth below, as follows:
Number of
Shares of
Common Stock

Name

H. Brian Thompson
Rhodric C. Hackman
Lior Samuelson
David Ballarini
Mercator Capital L.L.C.

25(1)
25(2)
25
25
—

Number of
Class W
Warrants

Number of Class
Z Warrants

618,750(1)
495,000(2)(3)
495,000(3)
495,000(3)
371,250

618,750(1)
495,000(2)(3)
495,000(3)
495,000(3)
371,250

Relationship to Us

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
President, Secretary and Director
Executive Vice President and Director
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
Warrant holder

(1)

Shares and warrants were acquired and are held by Universal Telecommunications, Inc. Does not include 4,000 shares of our common stock, 4,000
shares of our Class B common stock, 12,000 Class W warrants and 12,000 Class Z warrants which were acquired by Mr. Thompson upon his purchase
of 2,000 Series A Units and 2,000 Series B Units.

(2)

Shares and warrants were acquired and are held by the Hackman Family Trust.

(3)

Does not include 371,250 Class W warrants and 371,250 Class Z warrants purchased by Mercator Capital L.L.C., an affiliate of Messrs. Hackman,
Samuelson and Ballarini.

Subsequent to the purchase by the individuals and entities of the securities referenced in the above table, Mercator Capital and Universal
Telecommunications sold at fair market value, in the aggregate, 25,000 Class W warrants and 25,000 Class Z warrants to each of Mr. O’Brien and Mr. Mandl.
Mercator Capital L.L.C. makes available to us a small amount of office space and certain office and secretarial services, as we may require from time to
time. We pay Mercator Capital L.L.C. $7,500 per month for these services. Messrs. Hackman, Samuelson and Ballarini are each principals and, in the
aggregate, 95% owners of Mercator Capital L.L.C. and as a result, will benefit from the transaction to the extent of their interests in Mercator Capital L.L.C.
However, this arrangement is solely for our benefit and is not intended to provide Messrs. Hackman, Samuelson and Ballarini compensation in lieu of a
salary. We believe, based on rents and fees for similar services in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area, that the fee charged by Mercator Capital L.L.C. is at
least as favorable as we could have obtained from an unaffiliated person. However, as our directors may not be deemed “independent,” we did not have the
benefit of disinterested directors approving this transaction.
We reimburse our officers and directors for any reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses incurred by them in connection with certain activities on
our behalf such as identifying and investigating possible target
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businesses and business combinations. There is no limit on the amount of accountable out-of-pocket expenses reimbursable by us, which will be reviewed
only by our board or a court of competent jurisdiction if such reimbursement is challenged.
Other than the $7,500 per month administrative fee payable to Mercator Capital L.L.C. and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses payable to our
officers and directors, no compensation or fees of any kind, including finders and consulting fees, will be paid to any of our officers or directors, or to any of
their respective affiliates for services rendered to us prior to or with respect to the business combination.
We have engaged HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC, the representative of the underwriters in our initial public offering, to act as our investment banker in
connection with our business combination. We expect to pay HCFP/Brenner a cash fee equal to 5% of the first five million of total consideration paid in
connection with the business combination and an additional 4% on all consideration over $5 million, with a maximum fee to be paid of $500,000, at the
closing of our business combination for assisting us in structuring and negotiating the terms of the transaction.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Fees incurred by us for professional services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm from our inception (January 3, 2005) to
December 31, 2005, in each of the following categories are approximately as follows:
Inception
(January 3, 2005)
to December 31,
2005

Audit Fees
Audit-related Fees
Total

$41,000
9,000
$50,000

Fees for audit services include fees associated with the audit of our annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in our quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and services provided by our auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
PART IV
Item 15.
(a)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements.

Our financial statements as set forth in the Index to Financial Statements attached hereto commencing on page F-1 are hereby incorporated by
reference.
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(b)

Exhibits.

The following exhibits, which are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed herewith or, as noted, incorporated by reference
herein:
Exhibit No.

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (2)

3.2

By-laws (1)

4.1

Specimen Series A Unit Certificate (2)

4.2

Specimen Series B Unit Certificate (2)

4.3

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (1)

4.4

Specimen Class B Common Stock Certificate (1)

4.5

Specimen Class W Warrant Certificate (2)

4.6

Specimen Class Z Warrant Certificate (2)

4.7

Unit Purchase Option granted to HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC

4.8

Warrant Agreement between American Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Registrant

10.1

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC and Rhodric C. Hackman (2)

10.2

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC and Lior Samuelson (2)

10.3

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC and David Ballarini (2)

10.4

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC and H. Brian Thompson (2)

10.5

Investment Management Trust Agreement between American Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Registrant

31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

32.1

Section 1350 Certification

32.2

Section 1350 Certification

(1)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration statement and incorporated herein by reference.

(2)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 Registration statement and incorporated herein by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (a Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 2005, and the related
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
as of December 31, 2005, and its results of operations and cash flows for the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Jericho, New York
March 29, 2006
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Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2005
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted investments held in Trust Fund
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Total assets

$ 1,383,204
54,657,439
60,244
56,100,887
$56,100,887

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Common stock, subject to possible conversion to cash (2,114,942 shares at conversion value)
Commitments

$

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $.0001 per share, 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
Common stock, par value $.0001 per share, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 1,150,100 shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, Class B, par value $.0001 per share, 12,000,000 shares authorized, 8,465,058 shares issued and outstanding
(excluding 2,114,942 shares subject to possible conversion to cash)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

148,033
56,000
204,033
10,926,022

—
115
847
44,371,992
592,311
5,567
44,970,832
$56,100,887

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
Statement of Operations
Period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005
Revenue
Operating Expenses:
Professional fees
Other operating costs
Loss from operations
Interest Income
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Income

$

—

82,417
276,475
(358,892)
1,258,203
899,311
307,000
$ 592,311

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

8,434,067

Net income per common share, basic and diluted

$

0.07

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
Period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, January 3, 2005 (inception)
Issuance of common stock for cash
Issuance of 4,950,000 warrants for cash
Sale of 575,000 Series A units and 5,290,000
Series B units through public offering, net of
underwriter’s discount and offering expenses
and net proceeds of $10,680,457 allocable to
2,114,942 shares of common stock, Class B
subject to possible conversion to cash
Proceeds from sale of underwriters’ purchase
option
Allocation of value to Class B shares subject to
possible conversion to cash
Net income
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities
Comprehensive income
Balance, December 31, 2005

—
100
—

1,150,000

Common Stock, Class B

Amount

Shares

$ —
—
—

115

—
—
—

8,465,058

Amount

$

—
—
—

847

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

1,150,100

$ 115

8,465,058

Additional
Paid -In
Capital

$ 847

$

—
500
247,500

Retained
Earnings

$

—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

—
—
—

Total

$

—
500
247,500

44,369,457

—

—

44,370,419

100

—

—

100

(245,565)
—
—
$44,371,992

—
592,311

—
—

—
$592,311

5,567
$

5,567

(245,565)
592,311
5,567
597,878
$44,970,832

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
Statement of Cash Flows
Period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization of discount on U.S. Government Securities held in Trust Fund
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of U.S. Government Securities held in Trust Fund
Maturity of U.S. Government Securities held in Trust Fund
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of common stock and warrants to initial stockholders
Portion of net proceeds from sale of Series B units through public offering allocable to shares of common stock, Class B subject
to possible conversion to cash
Net proceeds from sale of units through public offering allocable to stockholders’ equity
Proceeds from sale of underwriters’ purchase option
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of period
End of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

$

592,311
(1,222,872)
(60,244)
148,033
56,000
(486,772)
(161,441,000)
108,012,000
(53,429,000)
248,000
10,680,457
44,370,419
100
55,298,976
1,383,204

$

—
1,383,204

$

251,000

$

—

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND ACTIVITIES
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on January 3, 2005 to serve as a vehicle to effect a merger, capital stock
exchange, asset acquisition or other similar business combination with a currently unidentified operating business (a “Business Combination”). The
Company is a “shell company” as that term is defined in Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act. As such, the Company is subject to rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission applicable to shell companies. In
particular, upon completion of a Business Combination which causes the Company to cease being a shell company, the Company will be obligated to
disclose the same type of information it would be required to provide in registering a class of securities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
As further discussed in Note 2, on April 11, 2005, the Company effected an initial public offering of its securities (the “Offering”) which closed on April 15,
2005.
Although substantially all of the proceeds of the Offering are intended to be utilized to effect a Business Combination, the proceeds are not specifically
designated for this purpose. The gross proceeds from the Offering and sale of the Series B units of $53,429,000 are held in a trust fund (the “Trust Fund”) until
the earlier of the completion of a Business Combination or the distribution of proceeds to Class B stockholders. If a Business Combination is consummated,
the redemption rights afforded to the Class B stockholders may result in the redemption for cash of up to approximately 19.99% of the aggregate number of
Class B shares sold as further described below. If a Business Combination is not consummated in 12 months, or within 18 months from April 11, 2005 if a
letter of intent, agreement in principal or definitive agreement has been executed within 12 months after the Offering and the Business Combination has not
been consummated within such 12 month period (the “Target Business Acquisition Period”), all of the proceeds of the Trust Fund will be returned to Class B
stockholders.
As a result of its limited resources, the Company will, in all likelihood, have the ability to effect only a single Business Combination. Accordingly, the
prospects for the Company’s success will be entirely dependent upon the future performance of a single business.
The Company will not effect a Business Combination unless the fair market value of the target, as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in its
sole discretion, based upon valuation standards generally accepted by the financial community including, among others, book value, cash flow, and both
actual and potential earnings, is at least equal to 80% of the net assets of the Company at the time of such acquisition.
Furthermore, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully effect a Business Combination. As discussed previously, if the Company is
unable to effect a Business Combination within 18 months of the consummation of the Offering, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation provides for the
Company’s automatic liquidation. If the Company were to expend all of the net proceeds of the Offering not held in the Trust Fund prior to liquidation, but
recognizing that such net proceeds could become subject to the claims of creditors of the Company which could be prior to the claims of stockholders of the
Company, it is possible that the Company’s liquidation value may be less than the amount in the Trust Fund, inclusive of any net interest income thereon.
Moreover, all of the Company’s initial stockholders have agreed to waive their respective rights to participate in any such liquidation distribution on shares
owned prior to the Offering.
The Company, after signing a definitive agreement for a Business Combination, is obliged to submit such transaction for approval by a majority of the Class
B common stockholders of the Company. The information presented to the Class B stockholders will include substantially all of the information that the
Company would be required to include in its filing on Form 8-K upon consummation of the proposed Business Combination. Class B stockholders that vote
against such proposed Business Combination are, under certain conditions, entitled to convert their shares into a pro-rata distribution from the Trust Fund
(the “Conversion Right”). In the event that holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B common stock vote for the approval of the Business
Combination and
F-7
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that holders owning 20% or more of the outstanding Class B common stock do not exercise their Conversion Rights, the Business Combination may then be
consummated. Upon completion of such Business Combination and the payment of any Conversion Rights (and related cancellation of Class B common
stock), the remaining shares of Class B common stock would be converted to common stock.
At the time the Company seeks Class B stockholder approval of any Business Combination, the Company will offer each Class B stockholder who acquired
Class B shares through the Offering or subsequently in the after-market the right to exercise his or her Conversion Right if such Class B stockholder votes
against the Business Combination and the Business Combination is approved and completed. The holders of the Company’s common stock are not entitled
to seek conversion of their shares. The actual per-share conversion price will be equal to the amount in the Trust Fund (inclusive of any interest thereon) as of
two business days prior to the proposed Business Combination, divided by the number of Class B shares sold in the Offering, or approximately $5.17 per
share based on the value of the Trust Fund as of December 31, 2005. There will be no distribution from the Trust Fund with respect to the warrants included in
the Series A Units (defined in Note 2 below) and Series B Units (defined in Note 2 below). A Class B stockholder may request conversion of his or her shares
at any time prior to the vote taken with respect to a proposed Business Combination at a meeting held for that purpose, but such request will not be granted
unless such Class B stockholder votes against the Business Combination and the Business Combination is approved and consummated.
It is anticipated that the funds to be distributed to Class B stockholders who have shares converted will be distributed promptly after consummation of a
Business Combination. Any Class B stockholder who converts his or her stock into his or her share of the Trust Fund still has the right to exercise the Class W
Warrants (defined in Note 6 below) and Class Z Warrants (defined in Note 6 below) that were received as part of the Series B Units. The Company will not
consummate any Business Combination if 20% or more of the Class B stockholders exercise their conversion rights. Accordingly, the redemption value of
$10,926,022 (2,114,942 shares, or 19.99% of the Class B shares sold in the public offering) has been included as temporary capital on the accompanying
balance sheet at December 31, 2005.
NOTE 2 - PUBLIC OFFERING OF SECURITIES
In its initial public offering, effective April 11, 2005 (closed on April 15, 2005), the Company sold to the public 575,000 Series A Units (the “Series A Units”
or a “Series A Unit”) and 5,290,000 Series B Units (the “Series B Units” or a “Series B Unit”) at a price of $10.50 and $10.10 per unit, respectively, inclusive
of an over allotment option issued to the underwriters to purchase additional Series A Units and Series B Units, which was exercised in full. Net proceeds from
the initial public offering, including the exercise of the over allotment option, totaled $55,050,876 which was net of $4,415,624 in underwriting and other
expenses. Each Series A Unit consists of two shares of the Company’s common stock, five Class W Warrants, and five Class Z Warrants. Each Series B unit
consists of two shares of the Company’s Class B common stock, one Class W Warrant, and one Class Z Warrant.
Both the common stock and the Class B common stock have one vote per share. However, the Class B stockholders may, and the common stockholders may
not, vote in connection with a Business Combination. Further, should a Business Combination not be consummated during the Target Business Acquisition
Period, the Trust Fund would be distributed pro-rata to all of the Class B common stockholders and their Class B common shares would be cancelled and
returned to the status of authorized but unissued shares. Any remaining net assets would be distributed to the holders of the Company’s common stock and
the Company would be dissolved and liquidated.
Each Class W Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00, commencing on the later of
(a) April 11, 2006 or (b) the completion of a Business Combination with a target business. The Class W Warrants will expire on April 11, 2010 or earlier upon
redemption. Each Class Z Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00, commencing
on the later of (a) April 11, 2006 or (b) the completion of a Business Combination with a target business. The Class Z Warrants will expire on April 11, 2012
or earlier upon redemption. The Company may redeem the outstanding Class W Warrants and/or Class Z Warrants with the prior consent of HCFP/ Brenner
Securities LLC (“HCFP”), the representative of the underwriters of the Offering, in whole and not in part, at a price of $.05 per warrant at any time after the
warrants become exercisable, upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written
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notice of redemption, and if, and only if, the last sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $7.50 per share and $8.75 per share, for a
Class W Warrant and Class Z Warrant, respectively, for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending three business days before the Company
sends the notice of redemption.
Upon closing of the public offering, the Company sold and issued an option, for $100, to HCFP (the “Underwriters Purchase Option” or “UPO”), to purchase
up to 25,000 Series A units at an exercise price of $17.325 per unit and/or up to 230,000 Series B units at an exercise price of $16.665 per unit. The Company
accounted for the fair value of the UPO, inclusive of the receipt of the $100 cash payment, as an expense of the public offering resulting in a charge directly
to stockholders’ equity, which was offset by an equivalent increase in equity for the issuance of the option. The Company estimated the fair value of this
UPO, approximately $752,000, using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the UPO granted was estimated as of the date of grant using the
following assumptions: (1) expected volatility of 44.5%, (2) risk-free interest rate of 4.02% and (3) contractual life of 5 years. The UPO may be exercised for
cash or on a “cashless” basis, at the holder’s option, such that the holder may use the appreciated value of the UPO (the difference between the exercise prices
of the option and the underlying warrants and the market price of the units and underlying securities) to exercise the UPO without the payment of any cash.
The Series A Units and Series B Units issuable upon exercise of this option are identical to those in the Offering, except that the exercise price of the warrants
included in the units are $5.50 per share and the Class Z Warrants shall be exercisable by HCFP for a period of only five years from the date of the Offering.
The UPO is exercisable at $17.325 per Series A Unit and $16.665 per Series B Unit commencing on the later of (a) April 11, 2006 or (b) the earlier of the
completion of a Business Combination with a target business, or the distribution of the Trust Fund to the Class B stockholders, and expires on April 11, 2010.
NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Included in cash and cash equivalents are deposits with financial institutions as well as short-term money market and debt
instruments with maturities of three months or less when purchased.
Investments - Investment held in the Trust Fund consist of investments acquired with maturities exceeding three months but less than three years. Consistent
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, the Company
classifies all debt securities and all investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values as available-for-sale, as the sale of such
securities may be required prior to maturity to implement management strategies. Such securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses
excluded from earnings and included in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. Discounts from the face value of restricted investments are
amortized using the interest method over the period from the date of purchase to maturity and are included in interest income on the accompanying statement
of operations.
The Company’s investment held in the Trust Fund at December 31, 2005 consists of United States of America Government treasury securities, with a maturity
date of January 12, 2006, and are stated at amortized cost. The fair market value of the restricted investments was $54,657,439 as of December 31, 2005,
including $5,567 of unrealized gains, which are reported as a component of other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2005. The Company recognized
interest income of $1,222,872 from amortization of the discount on the investment during the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005,
which is included in interest income on the accompanying statement of operations.
Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents. However, management believes the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial position of the
depository institutions in which those deposits are held.
Net Income (Loss) Per Share - Net income (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock and Class B
common stock outstanding.
Basic income (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income (loss) available to common and common, Class B stockholders by the
weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted income per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings
of the entity.
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For all periods presented, since the effect of the assumed exercise of 21,280,000 of outstanding warrants to purchase common stock and the outstanding UPO
to purchase 25,000 Series A Units and 230,000 Series B Units is anti-dilutive, as their exercise prices are greater than the average market price of common
stock during the period, they have been excluded from the Company’s computation of fully diluted net income per share. Therefore, basic and diluted
income per share were the same for the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The fair values of the Company’s assets and liabilities that qualify as financial instruments under SFAS No. 107
approximate their carrying amounts presented in the balance sheet at December 31, 2005.
Use of Estimates and Assumptions - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results can, and in many cases will, differ from those estimates.
Income Taxes - Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
that will result in future taxable or deductible amounts and are based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are
expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized.
New Accounting Pronouncements - The Company does not believe that any recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards if currently adopted
would have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements.
NOTE 4 - COMMITMENTS
The Company has agreed to pay Mercator Capital L.L.C. (“Mercator Capital”), an affiliate of certain stockholders, directors and officers, $7,500 per month,
commencing on consummation of the Offering, for office, secretarial and administrative services. Through December 31, 2005 $67,500 of expense for such
services was recorded in the accompanying statement of operations. Included in accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2005, is $22,500
owed to Mercator Capital for such services.
The Company has engaged HCFP, on a non-exclusive basis, to act as its agent for the solicitation of the exercise of the Company’s Class W Warrants and
Class Z Warrants. In consideration for solicitation services, the Company has agreed to pay HCFP a commission equal to 5% of the exercise price for each
Class W Warrant and Class Z Warrant exercised more than one year after the date of the Offering if the exercise is solicited by HCFP. No solicitation services
were provided by HCFP during the period from inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005.
HCFP has also been engaged by the Company to act as the Company’s non exclusive investment banker in connection with a proposed Business
Combination (Note 1). For assisting the Company in structuring and negotiating the terms of a Business Combination, the Company is obligated to pay
HCFP a cash transaction fee equal to 5% of the first $5 million of Total Consideration, as defined in the Underwriting Agreement, paid and 4% of Total
Consideration paid over $5 million, with a maximum fee to be paid of $500,000.
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NOTE 5 - INCOME TAXES
Provision for income taxes consists of:
From inception
(January 3, 2005)
to December 31, 2005

Current—Federal

$

307,000

The Company’s effective tax rate approximates the federal statutory rate.
NOTE 6 - CAPITAL STOCK
Preferred Stock
The Company is authorized to issue up to 5,000 shares of Preferred Stock with such designations, voting, and other rights and preferences as may be
determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
The Company is authorized to issue 40,000,000 shares of common stock and 12,000,000 shares of Class B common stock (Note 2). As of December 31, 2005,
there are 1,150,100 shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding and 10,580,000 shares of the Company’s Class B common stock issued
and outstanding, including 2,114,942 Class B common shares subject to possible conversion to cash.
As of December 31, 2005, there are 5,769,900 and 960,000 authorized but unissued shares of the Company’s common stock and the Company’s Class B
common stock, respectively, available for future issuance, after appropriate reserves for the issuance of common stock in connection with the Class W
Warrants and Class Z Warrants sold in the offering, the Underwriters Purchase Option and the officers’ and directors’ Class W Warrants and Class Z Warrants.
The Company currently has no commitments to issue any shares of common stock other than as described herein; however, the Company will, in all
likelihood, issue a substantial number of additional shares in connection with a Business Combination. To the extent that additional shares of common stock
are issued, dilution to the interests of the Company’s stockholders who participated in the Offering will occur.
Warrants
In January 2005, the Company sold and issued to its initial stockholders Class W Warrants (a “Class W Warrant”), to purchase 2,475,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock, and Class Z Warrants (a “Class Z Warrant”) to purchase 2,475,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, for an aggregate
purchase price of $247,500, or $0.05 per warrant.
In connection with the Offering, the Company sold and issued Class W warrants to purchase 8,165,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Except as set
forth below, the Class W Warrants are callable, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and entitle the holder to purchase shares at $5.00 per share for
a period commencing on the later of: (a) completion of a Business Combination, or (b) April 11, 2006 and ending April 10, 2010. As of December 31, 2005,
there were 10,640,000 Class W Warrants outstanding.
In connection with the Offering, the Company sold and issued Class Z warrants to purchase 8,165,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Except as set
forth below, the Class Z Warrants are callable, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and entitle the holder to purchase shares at $5.00 per share for a
period commencing on the later of: (a) completion of a Business Combination, or (b) April 11, 2006 and ending April 10, 2010. As of December 31, 2005,
there were 10,640,000 Class Z Warrants outstanding.
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The 2,475,000 Class W Warrants and 2,475,000 Class Z Warrants outstanding prior to the Offering, all of which are held by the Company’s officers and
directors or their affiliates, shall not be redeemable by the Company as long as such warrants continue to be held by such individuals.
As the proceeds from the exercise of the Class W and Class Z Warrants will not be received until after the completion of a Business Combination, the
expected proceeds from exercise will not have any effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations prior to a Business Combination.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP.
Date: March 29, 2006

By:

/s/ H. Brian Thompson
H. Brian Thompson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.
Name

Position

Date

/s/ H. Brian Thompson
H. Brian Thompson

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 29, 2006

/s/ Rhodric C. Hackman
Rhodric C. Hackman

President, Secretary and Director

March 29, 2006

/s/ David Ballarani
David Ballarani

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 29, 2006

/s/ Lior Samuelson
Lior Samuelson

Executive Vice President and Director

March 29, 2006
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EXHIBIT 4.7
THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE OPTION BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL, TRANSFER
OR ASSIGN THIS PURCHASE OPTION EXCEPT AS HEREIN PROVIDED AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE OPTION
AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL, TRANSFER, ASSIGN, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATE THIS PURCHASE OPTION FOR A PERIOD OF ONE
YEAR FOLLOWING THE EFFECTIVE DATE (DEFINED BELOW) TO ANYONE OTHER THAN (I) HCFP/BRENNER SECURITIES LLC
(“BRENNER”) OR AN UNDERWRITER OR A SELECTED DEALER IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING, OR (II) A BONA FIDE OFFICER
OR PARTNER OF BRENNER OR OF ANY SUCH UNDERWRITER OR SELECTED DEALER.
THIS PURCHASE OPTION IS NOT EXERCISABLE PRIOR TO THE LATER OF (I) APRIL 11, 2006 OR (II) THE CONSUMMATION BY
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP. (“COMPANY”) OF A MERGER, CAPITAL STOCK EXCHANGE, ASSET ACQUISITION OR
OTHER SIMILAR BUSINESS COMBINATION (“BUSINESS COMBINATION”) (AS DESCRIBED MORE FULLY IN THE COMPANY’S
REGISTRATION STATEMENT (DEFINED HEREIN)). VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME, APRIL 10, 2010.
UNIT PURCHASE OPTION
For the Purchase of
25,000 Series A Units
and/or
230,000 Series B Units
of
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP.
1. Purchase Option.
THIS CERTIFIES THAT, in consideration of $100 duly paid by or on behalf of HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC (“Holder”), as registered owner of this
Purchase Option, to Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (“Company”), Holder is entitled, at any time or from time to time upon the later of (i) April 11, 2006
or (ii) the consummation of a Business Combination (“Commencement Date”), and at or before 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, April 10, 2010 (“Expiration Date”),
but not thereafter, to subscribe for, purchase and receive, in whole or in part, up to Twenty Five Thousand (25,000) Series A Units (“Series A Units”) of the
Company and/or Two Hundred Thirty Thousand (230,000) Series B Units (“Series B Units” and together with the Series A Units, the “Units”). Each Series A
Unit consists of two shares of common stock of the Company, par value $.0001 per share (“Common Stock”), five Class W Warrants (“Class W Warrants”) and
five Class Z Warrants (“Class Z Warrants” and together with the Class W Warrants, the “Warrants”). Each Series B Unit consists of two shares of Class B
common stock of the Company, par value $.0001 per share (“Class B Common Stock”), one Class W Warrant and one Class Z Warrant. Each Warrant is the
same as the warrants (“Public Warrants”) included in the Units being offered for sale to the public (“Offering”) by way of a registration statement
(“Registration Statement”) except that the Warrants have an exercise price of $5.50 per share and the Class Z Warrants
1
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included in this Purchase Option expire five years from the effective date (“Effective Date”) of the Registration Statement. If the Expiration Date is a day on
which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then this Purchase Option may be exercised on the next succeeding day which is not such a day in
accordance with the terms herein. During the period ending on the Expiration Date, the Company agrees not to take any action that would terminate the
Purchase Option. This Purchase Option is initially exercisable at $17.325 per Series A Unit and $16.665 per Series B Unit so purchased; provided, however,
that upon the occurrence of any of the events specified in Section 6 hereof, the rights granted by this Purchase Option, including the exercise price per Unit
and the number of Units (and shares of Common Stock and Warrants) to be received upon such exercise, shall be adjusted as therein specified. The term
“Exercise Price” shall mean the initial exercise price or the adjusted exercise price, depending on the context.
2. Exercise.
2.1 Exercise Form. In order to exercise this Purchase Option, the exercise form attached hereto must be duly executed and completed and delivered to
the Company, together with this Purchase Option and payment of the Exercise Price for the Units being purchased payable in cash or by certified check or
official bank check. If the subscription rights represented hereby shall not be exercised at or before 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, on the Expiration Date this
Purchase Option shall become and be void without further force or effect, and all rights represented hereby shall cease and expire.
2.2 Legend. Each certificate for the securities purchased under this Purchase Option shall bear a legend as follows unless such securities have been
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Act”):
“The securities represented by this certificate have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Act”) or applicable state
law. The securities may not be offered for sale, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Act,
or pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Act and applicable state law.”
2.3 Cashless Exercise.
2.3.1 Determination of Amount. In lieu of the payment of the Exercise Price multiplied by the number of Units for which this Purchase Option is
exercisable (and in lieu of being entitled to receive Common Stock and Warrants) in the manner required by Section 2.1, the Holder shall have the right (but
not the obligation) to convert any exercisable but unexercised portion of this Purchase Option into Units (“Conversion Right”) as follows: upon exercise of
the Conversion Right, the Company shall deliver to the Holder (without payment by the Holder of any of the Exercise Price in cash) that number of shares of
Common Stock and Warrants comprising that number of Units equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the “Value” (as defined below) of the portion of
the Purchase Option being converted by (y) the Current Market Value (as defined below). The “Value” of the portion of the Purchase Option being converted
shall equal the remainder derived from subtracting (a) (i) the Exercise Price multiplied by (ii) the number of Units underlying the portion of this Purchase
Option being converted from (b) the Current Market Value of a Unit multiplied by the number of Units underlying the portion of the Purchase Option being
converted. As used herein, the term “Current Market Value” per Unit at any date means the remainder derived from subtracting (x) the exercise price of the
Warrants multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants underlying
2
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one Unit from (y) the Current Market Price of the Common Stock multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock underlying the Warrants and the
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of one Unit. The “Current Market Price” of a share of Common Stock shall mean (i) if the Common Stock is listed on a
national securities exchange or quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, Nasdaq SmallCap Market or NASD OTC Bulletin Board (or successor such as the
Bulletin Board Exchange), the last sale price of the Common Stock in the principal trading market for the Common Stock as reported by the exchange,
Nasdaq or the NASD, as the case may be; (ii) if the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or quoted on the Nasdaq National Market,
Nasdaq SmallCap Market or the NASD OTC Bulletin Board (or successor such as the Bulletin Board Exchange), but is traded in the residual over-the-counter
market, the closing bid price for the Common Stock on the last trading day preceding the date in question for which such quotations are reported by the Pink
Sheets, LLC or similar publisher of such quotations; and (iii) if the fair market value of the Common Stock cannot be determined pursuant to clause (i) or
(ii) above, such price as the Board of Directors of the Company shall determine, in good faith.
2.3.2 Mechanics of Cashless Exercise. The Cashless Exercise Right may be exercised by the Holder on any business day on or after the
Commencement Date and not later than the Expiration Date by delivering the Purchase Option with the duly executed exercise form attached hereto with the
cashless exercise section completed to the Company, exercising the Cashless Exercise Right and specifying the total number of Units the Holder will
purchase pursuant to such Cashless Exercise Right.
3. Transfer.
3.1 General Restrictions. The registered Holder of this Purchase Option, by its acceptance hereof, agrees that it will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or
hypothecate this Purchase Option for a period of one year following the Effective Date to anyone other than (i) Brenner or an underwriter or a selected dealer
in connection with the Offering, or (ii) a bona fide officer or partner of Brenner or of any such underwriter or selected dealer. On and after the first anniversary
of the Effective Date, transfers to others may be made subject to compliance with or exemptions from applicable securities laws. In order to make any
permitted assignment, the Holder must deliver to the Company the assignment form attached hereto duly executed and completed, together with the Purchase
Option and payment of all transfer taxes, if any, payable in connection therewith. The Company shall within five business days transfer this Purchase Option
on the books of the Company and shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Option or Purchase Options of like tenor to the appropriate assignee(s) expressly
evidencing the right to purchase the aggregate number of Units purchasable hereunder or such portion of such number as shall be contemplated by any such
assignment.
3.2 Restrictions Imposed by the Act. The securities evidenced by this Purchase Option shall not be transferred unless and until (i) the Company has
received the opinion of counsel for the Holder that the securities may be transferred pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Act and applicable
state securities laws, the availability of which is established to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company (the Company hereby agreeing that the opinion of
Graubard Miller shall be deemed satisfactory evidence of the availability of an exemption), or (ii) a registration statement or a post-effective amendment to
the Registration Statement relating to such securities has been filed by the Company and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and
compliance with applicable state securities law has been established.
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4. New Purchase Options to be Issued.
4.1 Partial Exercise or Transfer. Subject to the restrictions in Section 3 hereof, this Purchase Option may be exercised or assigned in whole or in part. In
the event of the exercise or assignment hereof in part only, upon surrender of this Purchase Option for cancellation, together with the duly executed exercise
or assignment form and funds sufficient to pay any Exercise Price and/or transfer tax, the Company shall cause to be delivered to the Holder without charge a
new Purchase Option of like tenor to this Purchase Option in the name of the Holder evidencing the right of the Holder to purchase the number of Units
purchasable hereunder as to which this Purchase Option has not been exercised or assigned.
4.2 Lost Certificate. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Purchase Option and
of reasonably satisfactory indemnification or the posting of a bond, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Option of like tenor and date. Any
such new Purchase Option executed and delivered as a result of such loss, theft, mutilation or destruction shall constitute a substitute contractual obligation
on the part of the Company.
5. Registration Rights.
5.1 Demand Registration.
5.1.1 Grant of Right. The Company, upon written demand (“Initial Demand Notice”) of the Holder(s) of at least 51% of the Purchase Options
and/or the underlying Units and/or the underlying securities (“Majority Holders”), agrees to register on one occasion, all or any portion of the Purchase
Options requested by the Majority Holders in the Initial Demand Notice and all of the securities underlying such Purchase Options, including the Units,
Common Stock, the Warrants and the Common Stock underlying the Warrants (collectively, the “Registrable Securities”). On such occasion, the Company
will file a registration statement or a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement covering the Registrable Securities within sixty days after
receipt of the Initial Demand Notice and use its best efforts to have such registration statement or post-effective amendment declared effective as soon as
possible thereafter. The demand for registration may be made at any time during a period of five years beginning on the Effective Date. The Company
covenants and agrees to give written notice of its receipt of any Initial Demand Notice by any Holder(s) to all other registered Holders of the Purchase
Options and/or the Registrable Securities within ten days from the date of the receipt of any such Initial Demand Notice.
5.1.2 Terms. The Company shall bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the Registrable Securities, including the expenses of any
legal counsel selected by the Holders to represent them in connection with the sale of the Registrable Securities, but the Holders shall pay any and all
underwriting commissions. The Company agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to qualify or register the Registrable Securities in such States as are
reasonably requested by the Majority Holder(s); provided, however, that in no event shall the Company be required to register the Registrable Securities in a
State in which such registration would cause (i) the Company to be obligated to qualify to do business in such State, or would subject the Company to
taxation as a foreign corporation doing business in such jurisdiction or (ii) the principal stockholders of the Company to be obligated to escrow their shares
of capital stock of the Company. The Company shall cause any registration statement or post-effective amendment filed pursuant to the demand rights
granted under Section 5.1.1 to remain effective for a period of nine consecutive months from the effective date of such registration statement or post-effective
amendment.
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5.2 “Piggy-Back” Registration.
5.2.1 Grant of Right. In addition to the demand right of registration, the Holders of the Purchase Options shall have the right for a period of seven
years commencing on the Effective Date, to include the Registrable Securities as part of any other registration of securities filed by the Company (other than
in connection with a transaction contemplated by Rule 145(a) promulgated under the Act or pursuant to Form S-8); provided, however, that if, in the written
opinion of the Company’s managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, for such offering, the inclusion of the Registrable Securities, when added to the
securities being registered by the Company or the selling stockholder(s), will exceed the maximum amount of the Company’s securities which can be
marketed (i) at a price reasonably related to their then current market value, and (ii) without materially and adversely affecting the entire offering, then the
Company will still be required to include the Registrable Securities, but may require the Holders to agree, in writing, to delay the sale of all or any portion of
the Registrable Securities for a period of 90 days from the effective date of the offering, provided, further, that if the sale of any Registrable Securities is so
delayed, then the number of securities to be sold by all stockholders in such public offering during such 90 day period shall be apportioned pro rata among
all such selling stockholders, including all holders of the Registrable Securities, according to the total amount of securities of the Company owned by said
selling stockholders, including all holders of the Registrable Securities.
5.2.2 Terms. The Company shall bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the Registrable Securities, including the expenses of any
legal counsel selected by the Holders to represent them in connection with the sale of the Registrable Securities but the Holders shall pay any and all
underwriting commissions related to the Registrable Securities. In the event of such a proposed registration, the Company shall furnish the then Holders of
outstanding Registrable Securities with not less than fifteen days written notice prior to the proposed date of filing of such registration statement. Such notice
to the Holders shall continue to be given for each applicable registration statement filed (during the period in which the Purchase Option is exercisable) by
the Company until such time as all of the Registrable Securities have been registered and sold. The holders of the Registrable Securities shall exercise the
“piggy-back” rights provided for herein by giving written notice, within ten days of the receipt of the Company’s notice of its intention to file a registration
statement. The Company shall cause any registration statement filed pursuant to the above “piggyback” rights to remain effective for at least nine months
from the date that the Holders of the Registrable Securities are first given the opportunity to sell all of such securities.
5.3 Damages. Should the registration or the effectiveness thereof required by Sections 5.1 and 5.2 hereof be delayed by the Company or the Company
otherwise fails to comply with such provisions, the Company shall, in addition to any other equitable or other relief available to the Holder(s), be liable for
any and all incidental, special and consequential damages sustained by the Holder(s), including, but not limited to, the loss of any profits that might have
been received by the holder upon the sale of shares of Common Stock or Warrants (and shares of Common Stock underlying the Warrants) underlying this
Purchase Option.
5.4 General Terms.
5.4.1 Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Holder(s) of the Registrable
5
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Securities to be sold pursuant to any registration statement hereunder and each person, if any, who controls such Holders within the meaning of Section 15 of
the Act or Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability
(including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against litigation, commenced or
threatened, or any claim whatsoever whether arising out of any action between the Underwriter and the Company or between the Underwriter and any third
party or otherwise) to which any of them may become subject under the Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising from such registration statement but only
to the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions pursuant to which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters contained in
Section 5 of the Underwriting Agreement between the Company, Brenner and the other Underwriters named therein dated the Effective Date. The Holder(s) of
the Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant to such registration statement, and their successors and assigns, shall severally, and not jointly, indemnify the
Company, its officers and directors and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Act or Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act, against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability (including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in
investigating, preparing or defending against any claim whatsoever) to which they may become subject under the Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising
from information furnished by or on behalf of such Holders, or their successors or assigns, in writing, for specific inclusion in such registration statement to
the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions contained in Section 5 of the Underwriting Agreement pursuant to which the Underwriters have
agreed to indemnify the Company.
5.4.2 Exercise of Purchase Options. Nothing contained in this Purchase Option shall be construed as requiring the Holder(s) to exercise their
Purchase Options or Warrants underlying such Purchase Options prior to or after the initial filing of any registration statement or the effectiveness thereof.
5.4.3 Documents Delivered to Holders. The Company shall furnish Brenner, as representative of the Holders participating in any of the foregoing
offerings, a signed counterpart, addressed to the participating Holders, of (i) an opinion of counsel to the Company, dated the effective date of such
registration statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten public offering, an opinion dated the date of the closing under any underwriting
agreement related thereto), and (ii) a “cold comfort” letter dated the effective date of such registration statement (and, if such registration includes an
underwritten public offering, a letter dated the date of the closing under the underwriting agreement) signed by the independent public accountants who have
issued a report on the Company’s financial statements included in such registration statement, in each case covering substantially the same matters with
respect to such registration statement (and the prospectus included therein) and, in the case of such accountants’ letter, with respect to events subsequent to
the date of such financial statements, as are customarily covered in opinions of issuer’s counsel and in accountants’ letters delivered to underwriters in
underwritten public offerings of securities. The Company shall also deliver promptly to Brenner, as representative of the Holders participating in the offering,
the correspondence and memoranda described below and copies of all correspondence between the Commission and the Company, its counsel or auditors
and all memoranda relating to discussions with the Commission or its staff with respect to the registration statement and permit Brenner, as representative of
the Holders, to do such investigation, upon reasonable advance notice, with respect to information contained in or omitted from the registration statement as
it deems reasonably necessary to comply with applicable securities laws or rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”). Such
investigation shall include access to books, records and properties and opportunities to discuss the business of the Company with its officers and
independent auditors, all to such reasonable extent and at such reasonable times and as often as
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Brenner, as representative of the Holders, shall reasonably request. The Company shall not be required to disclose any confidential information or other
records to Brenner, as representative of the Holders, or to any other person, until and unless such persons shall have entered into reasonable confidentiality
agreements (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company), with the Company with respect thereto.
5.4.4 Underwriting Agreement. The Company shall enter into an underwriting agreement with the managing underwriter(s), if any, selected by
any Holders whose Registrable Securities are being registered pursuant to this Section 5, which managing underwriter shall be reasonably acceptable to the
Company. Such agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Company, each Holder and such managing underwriters, and shall
contain such representations, warranties and covenants by the Company and such other terms as are customarily contained in agreements of that type used by
the managing underwriter. The Holders shall be parties to any underwriting agreement relating to an underwritten sale of their Registrable Securities and may,
at their option, require that any or all the representations, warranties and covenants of the Company to or for the benefit of such underwriters shall also be
made to and for the benefit of such Holders. Such Holders shall not be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the Company
or the underwriters except as they may relate to such Holders and their intended methods of distribution. Such Holders, however, shall agree to such
covenants and indemnification and contribution obligations for selling stockholders as are customarily contained in agreements of that type used by the
managing underwriter. Further, such Holders shall execute appropriate custody agreements and otherwise cooperate fully in the preparation of the registration
statement and other documents relating to any offering in which they include securities pursuant to this Section 5. Each Holder shall also furnish to the
Company such information regarding itself, the Registrable Securities held by it, and the intended method of disposition of such securities as shall be
reasonably required to effect the registration of the Registrable Securities.
5.4.5 Rule 144 Sale. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 5 to the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation pursuant to
Sections 5.1 or 5.2 for the registration of Registrable Securities held by any Holder (i) where such Holder would then be entitled to sell under Rule 144 within
any three-month period (or such other period prescribed under Rule 144 as may be provided by amendment thereof) all of the Registrable Securities then held
by such Holder, and (ii) where the number of Registrable Securities held by such Holder is within the volume limitations under paragraph (e) of Rule 144
(calculated as if such Holder were an affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144).
5.4.6 Supplemental Prospectus. Each Holder agrees, that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event as a result
of which the prospectus included in the Registration Statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in light of the circumstances then existing, such Holder will
immediately discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement covering such Registrable Securities until such
Holder’s receipt of the copies of a supplemental or amended prospectus, and, if so desired by the Company, such Holder shall deliver to the Company (at the
expense of the Company) or destroy (and deliver to the Company a certificate of such destruction) all copies, other than permanent file copies then in such
Holder’s possession, of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice.
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6. Adjustments.
6.1 Adjustments to Exercise Price and Number of Securities. The Exercise Price and the number of Units underlying the Purchase Option shall be
subject to adjustment from time to time as hereinafter set forth:
6.1.1 Stock Dividends - Split-Ups. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.4 below, the number of outstanding shares of
Common Stock is increased by a stock dividend payable in shares of Common Stock or by a split-up of shares of Common Stock or other similar event, then,
on the effective date thereof, the number of shares of Common Stock underlying each of the Units purchasable hereunder shall be increased in proportion to
such increase in outstanding shares. In such case, the number of shares of Common Stock, and the exercise price applicable thereto, underlying the Warrants
underlying each of the Units purchasable hereunder shall be adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Warrants.
6.1.2 Aggregation of Shares. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.4, the number of outstanding shares of Common
Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination or reclassification of shares of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date thereof,
the number of shares of Common Stock underlying each of the Units purchasable hereunder shall be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding
shares. In such case, the number of shares of Common Stock, and the exercise price applicable thereto, underlying the Warrants underlying each of the Units
purchasable hereunder shall be adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Warrants.
6.1.3 Replacement of Securities upon Reorganization, etc. In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock other than a change covered by Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2 hereof or that solely affects the par value of such shares of Common Stock, or in the case of any
merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which the Company is the continuing
corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding shares of Common Stock), or in the case of any sale or
conveyance to another corporation or entity of the property of the Company as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which the
Company is dissolved, the Holder of this Purchase Option shall have the right thereafter (until the expiration of the right of exercise of this Purchase Option)
to receive upon the exercise hereof, for the same aggregate Exercise Price payable hereunder immediately prior to such event, the kind and amount of shares
of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution
following any such sale or transfer, by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company obtainable upon exercise of this Purchase Option
and the underlying Warrants immediately prior to such event; and if any reclassification also results in a change in shares of Common Stock covered by
Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2, then such adjustment shall be made pursuant to Sections 6.1.1, 6.1.2 and this Section 6.1.3. The provisions of this Section 6.1.3 shall
similarly apply to successive reclassifications, reorganizations, mergers or consolidations, sales or other transfers.
6.1.4 Changes in Form of Purchase Option. This form of Purchase Option need not be changed because of any change pursuant to this Section,
and Purchase Options issued after such change may state the same Exercise Price and the same number of Units as are stated in the Purchase Options initially
issued pursuant to this Agreement. The acceptance by any Holder of the issuance of new Purchase Options reflecting a required or permissive change shall
not be deemed to waive any rights to an adjustment occurring after the Commencement Date or the computation thereof.
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6.2 [Intentionally Omitted]
6.3 Substitute Purchase Option. In case of any consolidation of the Company with, or merger of the Company with, or merger of the Company into,
another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger which does not result in any reclassification or change of the outstanding Common Stock), the
corporation formed by such consolidation or merger shall execute and deliver to the Holder a supplemental Purchase Option providing that the holder of
each Purchase Option then outstanding or to be outstanding shall have the right thereafter (until the stated expiration of such Purchase Option) to receive,
upon exercise of such Purchase Option, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable upon such consolidation or
merger, by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company for which such Purchase Option might have been exercised immediately prior
to such consolidation, merger, sale or transfer. Such supplemental Purchase Option shall provide for adjustments which shall be identical to the adjustments
provided in Section 6. The above provision of this Section shall similarly apply to successive consolidations or mergers.
6.4 Elimination of Fractional Interests. The Company shall not be required to issue certificates representing fractions of shares of Common Stock or
Warrants upon the exercise of the Purchase Option, nor shall it be required to issue scrip or pay cash in lieu of any fractional interests, it being the intent of
the parties that all fractional interests shall be eliminated by rounding any fraction up to the nearest whole number of Warrants, shares of Common Stock or
other securities, properties or rights.
7. Reservation and Listing. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized shares of Common Stock, solely for the purpose of
issuance upon exercise of the Purchase Options or the Warrants underlying the Purchase Option, such number of shares of Common Stock or other securities,
properties or rights as shall be issuable upon the exercise thereof. The Company covenants and agrees that, upon exercise of the Purchase Options and
payment of the Exercise Price therefor, all shares of Common Stock and other securities issuable upon such exercise shall be duly and validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any stockholder. The Company further covenants and agrees that upon exercise of the
Warrants underlying the Purchase Options and payment of the respective Warrant exercise price therefor, all shares of Common Stock and other securities
issuable upon such exercise shall be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any stockholder. As long
as the Purchase Options shall be outstanding, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause all (i) Units and shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise
of the Purchase Options, (iii) Warrants issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Options and (iv) shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the
Warrants included in the Units issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Option to be listed (subject to official notice of issuance) on all securities exchanges
(or, if applicable on the Nasdaq National Market, SmallCap Market, OTC Bulletin Board or any successor trading market) on which the Units, the Common
Stock or the Public Warrants issued to the public in connection herewith may then be listed and/or quoted.
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8. Certain Notice Requirements.
8.1 Holder’s Right to Receive Notice. Nothing herein shall be construed as conferring upon the Holders the right to vote or consent as a stockholder for
the election of directors or any other matter, or as having any rights whatsoever as a stockholder of the Company. If, however, at any time prior to the
expiration of the Purchase Options and their exercise, any of the events described in Section 8.2 shall occur, then, in one or more of said events, the Company
shall give written notice of such event at least fifteen days prior to the date fixed as a record date or the date of closing the transfer books for the
determination of the stockholders entitled to such dividend, distribution, conversion or exchange of securities or subscription rights, or entitled to vote on
such proposed dissolution, liquidation, winding up or sale. Such notice shall specify such record date or the date of the closing of the transfer books, as the
case may be. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall deliver to each Holder a copy of each notice given to the other stockholders of the Company
at the same time and in the same manner that such notice is given to the stockholders.
8.2 Events Requiring Notice. The Company shall be required to give the notice described in this Section 8 upon one or more of the following events:
(i) if the Company shall take a record of the holders of its shares of Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or distribution
payable otherwise than in cash, or a cash dividend or distribution payable otherwise than out of retained earnings, as indicated by the accounting treatment
of such dividend or distribution on the books of the Company, or (ii) the Company shall offer to all the holders of its Common Stock any additional shares of
capital stock of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of the Company, or any option, right or warrant to
subscribe therefor, or (iii) a dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company (other than in connection with a consolidation or merger) or a sale of all or
substantially all of its property, assets and business shall be proposed.
8.3 Notice of Change in Exercise Price. The Company shall, promptly after an event requiring a change in the Exercise Price pursuant to Section 6
hereof, send notice to the Holders of such event and change (“Price Notice”). The Price Notice shall describe the event causing the change and the method of
calculating same and shall be certified as being true and accurate by the Company’s President and Chief Financial Officer.
8.4 Transmittal of Notices. All notices, requests, consents and other communications under this Purchase Option shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly made when hand delivered, or mailed by express mail or private courier service: (i) If to the registered Holder of the Purchase
Option, to the address of such Holder as shown on the books of the Company, or (ii) if to the Company, to the following address or to such other address as
the Company may designate by notice to the Holders:
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
One Fountain Square
11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080
Reston, Virginia 20190
Attn: Rhodric C. Hackman
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9. Miscellaneous.
9.1 Amendments. The Company and Brenner may from time to time supplement or amend this Purchase Option without the approval of any of the
Holders in order to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be defective or inconsistent with any other
provisions herein, or to make any other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising hereunder that the Company and Brenner may deem necessary or
desirable and that the Company and Brenner deem shall not adversely affect the interest of the Holders. All other modifications or amendments shall require
the written consent of and be signed by the party against whom enforcement of the modification or amendment is sought.
9.2 Headings. The headings contained herein are for the sole purpose of convenience of reference, and shall not in any way limit or affect the meaning
or interpretation of any of the terms or provisions of this Purchase Option.
10. Entire Agreement . This Purchase Option (together with the other agreements and documents being delivered pursuant to or in connection with this
Purchase Option) constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings of the parties, oral and written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
10.1 Binding Effect . This Purchase Option shall inure solely to the benefit of and shall be binding upon, the Holder and the Company and their
permitted assignees, respective successors, legal representative and assigns, and no other person shall have or be construed to have any legal or equitable
right, remedy or claim under or in respect of or by virtue of this Purchase Option or any provisions herein contained.
10.2 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction . This Purchase Option shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws
of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflict of laws. The Company hereby agrees that any action, proceeding or claim against it arising out of,
or relating in any way to this Purchase Option shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or of the United States of America for the
Southern District of New York, and irrevocably submits to such jurisdiction, which jurisdiction shall be exclusive. The Company hereby waives any
objection to such exclusive jurisdiction and that such courts represent an inconvenient forum. Any process or summons to be served upon the Company may
be served by transmitting a copy thereof by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to it at the address set forth in
Section 8 hereof. Such mailing shall be deemed personal service and shall be legal and binding upon the Company in any action, proceeding or claim. The
Company and the Holder agree that the prevailing party(ies) in any such action shall be entitled to recover from the other party(ies) all of its reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses relating to such action or proceeding and/or incurred in connection with the preparation therefor.
10.3 Waiver, Etc. The failure of the Company or the Holder to at any time enforce any of the provisions of this Purchase Option shall not be deemed or
construed to be a waiver of any such provision, nor to in any way affect the validity of this Purchase Option or any provision hereof or the right of the
Company or any Holder to thereafter enforce each and every provision of this Purchase Option. No waiver of any breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment
of any of the provisions of this Purchase Option shall be effective unless set forth in a written instrument executed by the party or parties against whom or
which enforcement of such waiver is sought; and no waiver of any such breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment shall be construed or deemed to be a
waiver of any other or subsequent breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment.
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10.4 Execution in Counterparts. This Purchase Option may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement, and shall become
effective when one or more counterparts has been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to each of the other parties hereto.
10.5 Exchange Agreement. As a condition of the Holder’s receipt and acceptance of this Purchase Option, Holder agrees that, at any time prior to the
complete exercise of this Purchase Option by Holder, if the Company and Brenner enter into an agreement (“Exchange Agreement”) pursuant to which they
agree that all outstanding Purchase Options will be exchanged for securities or cash or a combination of both, then Holder shall agree to such exchange and
become a party to the Exchange Agreement.
10.6 Cancellation or Conversion of Class B Common Stock. At any time after the consummation of a Business Combination thereby causing such
Class B Common Stock to be cancelled or converted pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, the rights of the Holder to exercise
this Purchase Option and obtain shares of Class B Common Stock underlying Series B Units shall automatically be converted into the right to obtain the
same number of shares of Common Stock as the number of shares of Class B Common Stock as such holder would have been entitled to obtain upon exercise
of this Purchase Option.
10.7 Underlying Warrants. At any time after exercise by the Holder of this Purchase Option, the Holder may exchange his Warrants (with a $5.50
exercise price) for Public Warrants (with a $5.00 exercise price) upon payment to the Company of the difference between the exercise price of his Warrant and
the exercise price of the Public Warrants.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Purchase Option to be signed by its duly authorized officer as of the 11 th day of April,
2005.
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP.
By:
/s/ Rhodric C. Hackman
Name: Rhodric C. Hackman
Title: President
13

Source: GTT Communications, Inc., 10-K, March 30, 2006

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Form to be used to exercise Purchase Option:
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
One Fountain Square
11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080
Reston, Virginia 20190
Date:

, 200

The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to exercise all or a portion of the within Purchase Option and to purchase
Series Units of
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. and hereby makes payment of $
(at the rate of $
per Series Unit) in payment of the Exercise Price
pursuant thereto. Please issue the Common Stock, Class W Warrants and Class Z Warrants as to which this Purchase Option is exercised in accordance with
the instructions given below.
or
The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to convert its right to purchase
Series Units purchasable under the within Purchase Option
by surrender of the unexercised portion of the attached Purchase Option (with a “Value” based of $
based on a “Market Price” of $
). Please issue
the securities comprising the Series Units as to which this Purchase Option is exercised in accordance with the instructions given below.
Signature
Signature Guaranteed
INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES
Name _______________________________________________________________
(Print in Block Letters)
Address _____________________________________________________________
NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Purchase Option in every
particular without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust
company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
14

Source: GTT Communications, Inc., 10-K, March 30, 2006

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Form to be used to assign Purchase Option:
ASSIGNMENT
(To be executed by the registered Holder to effect a transfer of the within Purchase Option):
FOR VALUE RECEIVED,
does hereby sell, assign and transfer unto
the right to purchase
Series Units of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (“Company”) evidenced by the within Purchase Option and does hereby
authorize the Company to transfer such right on the books of the Company.
Dated:

, 200
Signature
Signature Guaranteed

NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Purchase Option in every
particular without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust
company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
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EXHIBIT 4.8
WARRANT AGREEMENT made as of April 11, 2005 by and between
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP., a Delaware corporation,
with offices at One Fountain Square, 11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080,
Reston Virginia 20190 (“Company”), and AMERICAN STOCK
TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY, a New York corporation, with offices at
59 Maiden Lane, New York, New York 10038 (“Warrant Agent”).

The Company has heretofore sold and delivered to its executive officers and directors (collectively, “Insiders”) an aggregate of (i) 2,475,000 Class W
Warrants (“Class W Warrants”) and (ii) 2,475,000 Class Z Warrants (“Class Z Warrants”), each such Warrant evidencing the right of the holder thereof to
purchase one share of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”), for $5.00, subject to adjustment as described herein
(the Class W Warrants and the Class Z Warrants sold to the Insiders being hereinafter referred to, collectively, as “Insiders’ Warrants”); and
The Company is engaged in a public offering (“Public Offering”) of Units (“Units”) and, in connection therewith, has determined to issue and deliver
up to (i) 8,165,000 Class W Warrants and 8,165,000 Class Z Warrants (collectively, “Public Warrants”) to the public investors, and (ii) 355,000 Class W
Warrants and 355,000 Class Z Warrants to HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC (“Brenner”) or its designees (“Representative’s Warrants” and, collectively with the
Insiders’ Warrants and the Public Warrants, “Warrants”); and
The Company has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a Registration Statement, No. 333-122303 on Form S-1 (“Registration
Statement”) for the registration, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Act”) of, among other securities, the Warrants and the Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of the Warrants; and
The Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, and the Warrant Agent is willing to so act, in connection with the issuance,
registration, transfer, exchange, redemption and exercise of the Warrants; and
The Company desires to provide for the form and provisions of the Warrants, the terms upon which they shall be issued and exercised, and the
respective rights, limitation of rights, and immunities of the Company, the Warrant Agent, and the holders of the Warrants; and
All acts and things have been done and performed which are necessary to make the Warrants, when executed on behalf of the Company and
countersigned by or on behalf of the Warrant Agent, as provided herein, the valid, binding and legal obligations of the Company, and to authorize the
execution and delivery of this Agreement.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Appointment of Warrant Agent. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent for the Company for the Warrants, and the Warrant Agent
hereby accepts such appointment and agrees to perform the same in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2. Warrants.
2.1. Form of Warrant. Each Warrant shall be issued in registered form only, shall be in substantially the respective forms of Exhibits A and B hereto, the
provisions of which are incorporated herein and shall be signed by, or bear the facsimile signature of, the Chairman of the Board or President and Treasurer,
Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company and shall bear a facsimile of the Company’s seal. In the event the person whose facsimile signature has been
placed upon any Warrant shall have ceased to serve in the capacity in which such person signed the Warrant before such Warrant is issued, it may be issued
with the same effect as if he or she had not ceased to be such at the date of issuance.
2.2. Effect of Countersignature. Unless and until countersigned by the Warrant Agent pursuant to this Agreement, a Warrant shall be invalid and of no
effect and may not be exercised by the holder thereof.
2.3. Registration.
2.3.1. Warrant Register. The Warrant Agent shall maintain books (“Warrant Register”), for the registration of original issuance and the
registration of transfer of the Warrants. Upon the initial issuance of the Warrants, the Warrant Agent shall issue and register the Warrants in the names of the
respective holders thereof in such denominations and otherwise in accordance with instructions delivered to the Warrant Agent by the Company.
2.3.2. Registered Holder. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of any Warrant, the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem and
treat the person in whose name such Warrant shall be registered upon the Warrant Register (“registered holder”), as the absolute owner of such Warrant and of
each Warrant represented thereby (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing on the Warrant Certificate made by anyone other than the
Company or the Warrant Agent), for the purpose of any exercise thereof, and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be
affected by any notice to the contrary.
2.4. Detachability of Warrants. The securities comprising the Units will not be separately transferable until 90 days after the date hereof unless
Brenner informs the Company of its decision to allow earlier separate trading, but in no event will Brenner allow separate trading of the securities comprising
the Units until the Company files a Current Report on Form 8-K which includes an audited balance sheet reflecting the receipt by the Company of the gross
proceeds of the Public Offering including the proceeds received by the Company from the exercise of the Underwriter’s over-allotment option, if the overallotment option is exercised prior to the filing of the Form 8-K.
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2.5 Warrant Attributes. The Insiders’ Warrants, the Public Warrants and the Representative’s Warrants shall have the same terms except with respect to
the Warrant Price and Exercise Period as set forth below in Sections 3.1 and 3.2.
3. Terms and Exercise of Warrants
3.1. Warrant Price. Each Insiders’ Warrant and Public Warrant shall, when countersigned by the Warrant Agent, entitle the registered holder thereof,
subject to the provisions of such Insiders’ Warrant and Public Warrant, as applicable, and of this Warrant Agreement, to purchase from the Company the
number of shares of Common Stock stated therein, at the price of $5.00 per whole share, subject to the adjustments provided in Section 4 hereof and in the
last sentence of this Section 3.1. Each Representative’s Warrant shall, when countersigned by the Warrant Agent, entitle the registered holder thereof, subject
to the provisions of such Representative’s Warrant and of this Warrant Agreement, to purchase from the Company the number of shares of Common Stock
stated therein, at the price of $5.50 per whole share, subject to the adjustments provided in Section 4 hereof. The term “Warrant Price” as used in this Warrant
Agreement refers to the price per share at which Common Stock may be purchased at the time a Warrant is exercised. The Company in its sole discretion may
lower the Warrant Price at any time prior to the Expiration Date.
3.2. Duration of Warrants.
(a) A Class W or Class Z Warrant may be exercised only during the period (“Exercise Period”) commencing on the later of (i) the consummation
by the Company of a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition or other similar business combination (“Business Combination”) (as described more
fully in the Company’s Registration Statement) or (ii) April 11, 2006. Each Insiders’ Warrant and Public Warrant shall terminate at 5:00 p.m., New York City
time, on the earlier to occur of (i) April 10, 2010 if a Class W Warrant or April 10, 2012 if a Class Z Warrant, as applicable, or (ii) the date fixed for redemption
of the Warrants as provided in Section 6 of this Agreement (“Expiration Date”). Each Representative’s Warrant shall terminate at 5:00 p.m., New York City
time, on the earlier to occur of (i) April 10, 2010 or (ii) the date fixed for redemption of the Warrants as provided in Section 6 of this Agreement.
(b) Except with respect to the right to receive the Redemption Price (as set forth in Section 6 hereunder), each Warrant not exercised on or before
the Expiration Date shall become void, and all rights thereunder and all rights in respect thereof under this Agreement shall cease at the close of business on
the Expiration Date. The Company in its sole discretion may extend the duration of the Warrants by delaying the Expiration Date.
3.3. Exercise of Warrants.
3.3.1. Payment. Subject to the provisions of the Warrant and this Warrant Agreement, a Warrant, when countersigned by the Warrant Agent, may
be exercised by the registered holder thereof by surrendering it, at the office of the Warrant Agent, or at the office of its
3
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successor as Warrant Agent, in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, with the subscription form, as set forth in the Warrant, duly executed,
and by paying in full, in lawful money of the United States, in cash, good certified check or good bank draft payable to the order of the Company (or as
otherwise agreed to by the Company), the Warrant Price for each full share of Common Stock as to which the Warrant is exercised and any and all applicable
taxes due in connection with the exercise of the Warrant, the exchange of the Warrant for the Common Stock, and the issuance of the Common Stock.
3.3.2. Issuance of Certificates. As soon as practicable after the exercise of any Warrant and the clearance of the funds in payment of the Warrant
Price, the Company shall issue to the registered holder of such Warrant a certificate or certificates for the number of full shares of Common Stock to which he
is entitled, registered in such name or names as may be directed by him, her or it, and if such Warrant shall not have been exercised in full, a new
countersigned Warrant for the number of shares as to which such Warrant shall not have been exercised. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall
not be obligated to deliver any securities pursuant to the exercise of a Warrant unless a registration statement under the Act with respect to the Common
Stock is effective. Warrants may not be exercised by, or securities issued to, any registered holder in any state in which such exercise would be unlawful.
3.3.3. Valid Issuance. All shares of Common Stock issued upon the proper exercise of a Warrant in conformity with this Agreement shall be
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
3.3.4. Date of Issuance. Each person in whose name any such certificate for shares of Common Stock is issued shall for all purposes be deemed to
have become the holder of record of such shares on the date on which the Warrant was surrendered and payment of the Warrant Price was made, irrespective of
the date of delivery of such certificate, except that, if the date of such surrender and payment is a date when the stock transfer books of the Company are
closed, such person shall be deemed to have become the holder of such shares at the close of business on the next succeeding date on which the stock transfer
books are open.
3.3.5. Warrant Solicitation and Warrant Solicitation Fee.
a. The Company has engaged Brenner, on a non-exclusive basis, as its agent for the solicitation of the exercise of the Warrants. The
Company, at its cost, will (i) assist Brenner with respect to such solicitation, if requested by Brenner, and (ii) provide Brenner, and direct the Company’s
transfer agent and the Warrant Agent to deliver to Brenner, lists of the record and, to the extent known, beneficial owners of the Company’s Warrants. The
Company hereby instructs the Warrant Agent to cooperate with Brenner in every respect in connection with Brenner’s solicitation activities, including, but
not limited to, providing to Brenner, at the Company’s cost, a list of record and beneficial holders of the Warrants and circulating a prospectus or offering
circular disclosing the compensation arrangements referenced in Section 3.3.5(b) below to holders of the Warrants at the time of exercise of the Warrants. In
addition to the conditions set forth in Section 3.3.5(b), Brenner shall accept payment of the warrant solicitation fee provided in Section 3.3.5(b) only if it has
provided bona fide services to the Company in connection with the exercise of the Warrants and only to the extent that an investor who exercises his
Warrants
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specifically designates, in writing, that Brenner solicited his exercise. In addition to soliciting, either orally or in writing, the exercise of Warrants by a
Warrant holder, such services may also include disseminating information, either orally or in writing, to Warrant holders about the Company or the market for
the Company’s securities, or assisting in the processing of the exercise of Warrants.
b. In each instance in which a Warrant is exercised, the Warrant Agent shall promptly give written notice of such exercise to the
Company and Brenner (“Warrant Agent’s Exercise Notice”). If, upon the exercise of any Warrant more than one year from the effective date of the
Registration Statement, (i) the market price of the Company’s Common Stock is greater than the Warrant Price, (ii) disclosure of compensation arrangements
between the Company and Brenner with respect to the solicitation of the exercise of the Warrants was made both at the time of the Public Offering and at the
time of exercise (by delivery of the Prospectus or as otherwise required by applicable law, rule or regulation), (iii) the holder of the Warrant confirms in
writing that the exercise of the Warrant was solicited by Brenner, (iv) the Warrant was not held in a discretionary account, and (v) the solicitation of the
exercise of the Warrant was not in violation of Regulation M (as such rule or any successor rule may be in effect as of such time of exercise) promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, then the Warrant Agent, simultaneously with the distribution of the Common Stock underlying the
Warrants so exercised in accordance with the instructions from the Company following receipt of the proceeds to the Company received upon exercise of
such Warrant(s), shall, on behalf of the Company, pay a fee of 5% of the Warrant Price to Brenner, provided that Brenner delivers to the Warrant Agent within
ten (10) business days from the date on which Brenner has received the Warrant Agent’s Exercise Notice, a certificate that the conditions set forth in the
preceding clauses (iii), (iv) and (v) have been satisfied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no fee will be paid to Brenner with respect to the exercise by the
Underwriters or their affiliates or the Company’s officers or directors of Warrants purchased by it or them upon exercise of the Representative’s Warrants and
still held by any of the Underwriters or them for its or their own account. Brenner and the Company may at any time during business hours, examine the
records of the Warrant Agent, including its ledger of original Warrant certificates returned to the Warrant Agent upon exercise of Warrants.
c. The provisions of this Section 3.3.5. may not be modified, amended or deleted without the prior written consent of Brenner.
4. Adjustments.
4.1. Stock Dividends - Split-Ups. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.6 below, the number of outstanding shares of
Common Stock is increased by a stock dividend payable in shares of Common Stock, or by a split-up of shares of Common Stock, or other similar event, then,
on the effective date of such stock dividend, split-up or similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each Warrant shall be
increased in proportion to such increase in outstanding shares of Common Stock.
4.2. Aggregation of Shares. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.6, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is
decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse stock split or reclassification of shares of Common Stock or other similar
5
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event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar event, the number of shares of Common
Stock issuable on exercise of each Warrant shall be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding shares of Common Stock.
4.3 Adjustments in Exercise Price. Whenever the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the Warrants is adjusted, as
provided in Section 4.1 and 4.2 above, the Warrant Price shall be adjusted (to the nearest cent) by multiplying such Warrant Price immediately prior to such
adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the Warrants
immediately prior to such adjustment, and (y) the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock so purchasable immediately
thereafter.
4.4. Replacement of Securities upon Reorganization, etc. In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding shares of Common Stock
(other than a change covered by Section 4.1 or 4.2 hereof or that solely affects the par value of such shares of Common Stock), or in the case of any merger or
consolidation of the Company with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which the Company is the continuing corporation
and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding shares of Common Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to
another corporation or entity of the assets or other property of the Company as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which the
Company is dissolved, the Warrant holders shall thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified
in the Warrants and in lieu of the shares of Common Stock of the Company immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable upon the exercise of the
rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of shares of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification,
reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the Warrant holder would have received if such
Warrant holder had exercised his, her or its Warrant(s) immediately prior to such event; and if any reclassification also results in a change in shares of
Common Stock covered by Section 4.1 or 4.2, then such adjustment shall be made pursuant to Sections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and this Section 4.4. The provisions of
this Section 4.4 shall similarly apply to successive reclassifications, reorganizations, mergers or consolidations, sales or other transfers.
4.5. Notices of Changes in Warrant. Upon every adjustment of the Warrant Price or the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a Warrant, the
Company shall give written notice thereof to the Warrant Agent, which notice shall state the Warrant Price resulting from such adjustment and the increase or
decrease, if any, in the number of shares purchasable at such price upon the exercise of a Warrant, setting forth in reasonable detail the method of calculation
and the facts upon which such calculation is based. Upon the occurrence of any event specified in Sections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 or 4.4, then, in any such event, the
Company shall give written notice to the Warrant holder, at the last address set forth for such holder in the warrant register, of the record date or the effective
date of the event. Failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not affect the legality or validity of such event.
6
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4.6. No Fractional Shares. Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Warrant Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not issue fractional
shares upon exercise of Warrants. If, by reason of any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 4, the holder of any Warrant would be entitled, upon the
exercise of such Warrant, to receive a fractional interest in a share, the Company shall, upon such exercise, round up to the nearest whole number the number
of the shares of Common Stock to be issued to the Warrant holder.
4.7. Form of Warrant. The form of Warrant need not be changed because of any adjustment pursuant to this Section 4, and Warrants issued after such
adjustment may state the same Warrant Price and the same number of shares as is stated in the Warrants initially issued pursuant to this Agreement. However,
the Company may at any time in its sole discretion make any change in the form of Warrant that the Company may deem appropriate and that does not affect
the substance thereof, and any Warrant thereafter issued or countersigned, whether in exchange or substitution for an outstanding Warrant or otherwise, may
be in the form as so changed.
5. Transfer and Exchange of Warrants.
5.1. Registration of Transfer. The Warrant Agent shall register the transfer, from time to time, of any outstanding Warrant upon the Warrant Register,
upon surrender of such Warrant for transfer, properly endorsed with signatures properly guaranteed and accompanied by appropriate instructions for transfer.
Upon any such transfer, a new Warrant representing an equal aggregate number of Warrants shall be issued and the old Warrant shall be cancelled by the
Warrant Agent. The Warrants so cancelled shall be delivered by the Warrant Agent to the Company from time to time upon request.
5.2. Procedure for Surrender of Warrants. Warrants may be surrendered to the Warrant Agent, together with a written request for exchange or transfer,
and thereupon the Warrant Agent shall issue in exchange therefor one or more new Warrants as requested by the registered holder of the Warrants so
surrendered, representing an equal aggregate number of Warrants; provided, however, that in the event that a Warrant surrendered for transfer bears a
restrictive legend, the Warrant Agent shall not cancel such Warrant and issue new Warrants in exchange therefor until the Warrant Agent has received an
opinion of counsel for the Company stating that such transfer may be made and indicating whether the new Warrants must also bear a restrictive legend.
5.3. Fractional Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall not be required to effect any registration of transfer or exchange which will result in the issuance of a
warrant certificate for a fraction of a warrant.
5.4. Service Charges. No service charge shall be made for any exchange or registration of transfer of Warrants.
5.5. Warrant Execution and Countersignature. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to countersign and to deliver, in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement, the Warrants required to be issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, and the Company, whenever required by the Warrant Agent,
will supply the Warrant Agent with Warrants duly executed on behalf of the Company for such purpose.
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6. Redemption.
6.1. Redemption. Subject to Section 6.4 hereof, not less than all of the outstanding Class W Warrants and/or Class Z Warrants may be redeemed, at the
option of the Company, at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at the office of the Warrant Agent, upon the notice referred to
in Section 6.2., at the price of $.05 per Warrant (“Redemption Price”), provided that the last sales price of the Common Stock has been at least $7.50 per share
in the case of the Class W Warrants and $8.75 per share in the case of the Class Z Warrants, as applicable, on each of twenty (20) trading days within any
thirty (30) trading day period ending on the third business day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is given. The provisions of this Section 6.1
may not be modified, amended or deleted without the prior written consent of Brenner.
6.2. Date Fixed for, and Notice of, Redemption. In the event the Company shall elect to redeem all of the Class W and/or Class Z Warrants, as
applicable, the Company shall fix a date for the redemption. Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, by the Company not
less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered holders of the Class W or Class Z Warrants, as applicable, to be redeemed at their last
addresses as they shall appear on the registration books. Any notice mailed in the manner herein provided shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly
given whether or not the registered holder received such notice.
6.3. Exercise After Notice of Redemption. The Class W or Class Z Warrants, as applicable, may be exercised in accordance with Section 3 of this
Agreement at any time after notice of redemption shall have been given by the Company pursuant to Section 6.2. hereof and prior to the time and date fixed
for redemption. On and after the redemption date, the record holders of such Warrants shall have no further rights except to receive, upon surrender of the
Warrants, the Redemption Price.
6.4 Exclusion of Certain Warrants.
(a) The Company understands that the redemption rights provided for by this Section 6 apply only to outstanding Warrants. To the extent a
person holds rights to purchase Warrants, such purchase rights shall not be extinguished by redemption. However, once such purchase rights are exercised,
the Company may redeem the Warrants issued upon such exercise provided that the criteria for redemption is met. The provisions of this Section 6.4(a) may
not be modified, amended or deleted without the prior written consent of Brenner.
(b) The Insider Warrants may not be redeemed by the Company so long as such Insider Warrants are held by the Insiders. However, once an
Insider transfers his Insider Warrants, such Insider Warrants shall then be redeemable by the Company pursuant to Section 6 hereof.
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7. Other Provisions Relating to Rights of Holders of Warrants.
7.1. No Rights as Stockholder. A Warrant does not entitle the registered holder thereof to any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company, including,
without limitation, the right to receive dividends, or other distributions, exercise any preemptive rights to vote or to consent or to receive notice as
stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.
7.2. Lost, Stolen, Mutilated, or Destroyed Warrants. If any Warrant is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed, the Company and the Warrant Agent may on
such terms as to indemnity or otherwise as they may in their discretion impose (which shall, in the case of a mutilated Warrant, include the surrender thereof),
issue a new Warrant of like denomination, tenor, and date as the Warrant so lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed. Any such new Warrant shall constitute a
substitute contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the allegedly lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed Warrant shall be at any time enforceable
by anyone.
7.3. Reservation of Common Stock. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available a number of its authorized but unissued shares of
Common Stock that will be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all outstanding Warrants issued pursuant to this Agreement.
7.4. Registration of Common Stock. The Company agrees that prior to the commencement of the Exercise Period, it shall file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement, or a new registration statement, for the registration, under the Act, of, and it
shall take such action as is necessary to qualify for sale, in those states in which the Warrants were initially offered by the Company, the Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of the Warrants. In either case, the Company will use its best efforts to cause the same to become effective and to maintain the
effectiveness of such registration statement until the expiration of the Warrants in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The provisions of this
Section 7.4 may not be modified, amended or deleted without the prior written consent of Brenner.
8. Concerning the Warrant Agent and Other Matters.
8.1. Payment of Taxes. The Company will from time to time promptly pay all taxes and charges that may be imposed upon the Company or the Warrant
Agent in respect of the issuance or delivery of shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of Warrants, but the Company shall not be obligated to pay any
transfer taxes in respect of the Warrants or such shares.
8.2. Resignation, Consolidation, or Merger of Warrant Agent.
8.2.1. Appointment of Successor Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent, or any successor to it hereafter appointed, may resign its duties and be
discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder after giving sixty (60) days’ notice in writing to the Company. If the office of the Warrant Agent
becomes vacant by resignation or incapacity to act or otherwise, the Company shall appoint in writing a successor Warrant Agent in place of the Warrant
Agent. If the Company
9
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shall fail to make such appointment within a period of 30 days after it has been notified in writing of such resignation or incapacity by the Warrant Agent or
by the holder of the Warrant (who shall, with such notice, submit his Warrant for inspection by the Company), then the holder of any Warrant may apply to
the Supreme Court of the State of New York for the County of New York for the appointment of a successor Warrant Agent at the Company’s cost. Any
successor Warrant Agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such court, shall be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
New York, in good standing and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and authorized under such laws to
exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authority. After appointment, any successor Warrant Agent shall
be vested with all the authority, powers, rights, immunities, duties, and obligations of its predecessor Warrant Agent with like effect as if originally named as
Warrant Agent hereunder, without any further act or deed; but if for any reason it becomes necessary or appropriate, the predecessor Warrant Agent shall
execute and deliver, at the expense of the Company, an instrument transferring to such successor Warrant Agent all the authority, powers, and rights of such
predecessor Warrant Agent hereunder; and upon request of any successor Warrant Agent the Company shall make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any
and all instruments in writing for more fully and effectually vesting in and confirming to such successor Warrant Agent all such authority, powers, rights,
immunities, duties, and obligations.
8.2.2. Notice of Successor Warrant Agent. In the event a successor Warrant Agent shall be appointed, the Company shall give notice thereof to
the predecessor Warrant Agent and the transfer agent for the Common Stock not later than the effective date of any such appointment.
8.2.3. Merger or Consolidation of Warrant Agent. Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent may be merged or with which it may be
consolidated or any corporation resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party shall be the successor Warrant Agent
under this Agreement without any further act.
8.3. Fees and Expenses of Warrant Agent.
8.3.1. Remuneration. The Company agrees to pay the Warrant Agent reasonable remuneration for its services as such Warrant Agent hereunder
and will reimburse the Warrant Agent upon demand for all expenditures that the Warrant Agent may reasonably incur in the execution of its duties hereunder.
8.3.2. Further Assurances. The Company agrees to perform, execute, acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be performed, executed,
acknowledged, and delivered all such further and other acts, instruments, and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant Agent for the carrying
out or performing of the provisions of this Agreement.
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8.4. Liability of Warrant Agent.
8.4.1. Reliance on Company Statement. Whenever in the performance of its duties under this Warrant Agreement, the Warrant Agent shall deem
it necessary or desirable that any fact or matter be proved or established by the Company prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder, such fact or matter
(unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a statement signed
by the President or Chairman of the Board of the Company and delivered to the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent may rely upon such statement for any
action taken or suffered in good faith by it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement.
8.4.2. Indemnity. The Warrant Agent shall be liable hereunder only for its own negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith. The Company agrees
to indemnify the Warrant Agent and save it harmless against any and all liabilities, including judgments, costs and reasonable counsel fees, for anything
done or omitted by the Warrant Agent in the execution of this Agreement except as a result of the Warrant Agent’s negligence, willful misconduct, or bad
faith.
8.4.3. Exclusions. The Warrant Agent shall have no responsibility with respect to the validity of this Agreement or with respect to the validity or
execution of any Warrant (except its countersignature thereof); nor shall it be responsible for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition
contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant; nor shall it be responsible to make any adjustments required under the provisions of Section 4 hereof or
responsible for the manner, method, or amount of any such adjustment or the ascertaining of the existence of facts that would require any such adjustment;
nor shall it by any act hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any shares of Common Stock to
be issued pursuant to this Agreement or any Warrant or as to whether any shares of Common Stock will when issued be valid and fully paid and
nonassessable.
8.5. Acceptance of Agency. The Warrant Agent hereby accepts the agency established by this Agreement and agrees to perform the same upon the
terms and conditions herein set forth and among other things, shall account promptly to the Company with respect to Warrants exercised and concurrently
account for, and pay to the Company, all moneys received by the Warrant Agent for the purchase of shares of the Company’s Common Stock through the
exercise of Warrants.
9. Miscellaneous Provisions.
9.1. Successors. All the covenants and provisions of this Agreement by or for the benefit of the Company or the Warrant Agent shall bind and inure to
the benefit of their respective successors and assigns.
9.2. Notices. Any notice, statement or demand authorized by this Warrant Agreement to be given or made by the Warrant Agent or by the holder of any
Warrant to or on the Company shall be sufficiently given when so delivered if by hand or overnight delivery or if sent by certified mail or private courier
service within five days after deposit of such notice, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Warrant
Agent), as follows:
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
One Fountain Square,
11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080,
Reston, Virginia 20190
Attn: Chairman
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Any notice, statement or demand authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the holder of any Warrant or by the Company to the Warrant Agent
shall be sufficiently given when so delivered if by hand or overnight delivery or if sent by certified mail or private courier service within five days after
deposit of such notice, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Warrant Agent with the Company), as follows:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
Attn: Compliance Department
with a copy in each case to:
Eaton & Van Winkle
3 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10016
Attn: Vincent J. McGill, Esq.
and
Graubard Miller
600 Third Avenue
New York, New York 10016
Attn: David Alan Miller, Esq.
and
HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC
888 Seventh Avenue, 17 th Floor
New York, New York 10106
Attn: Ira Greenspan
9.3. Applicable Law. The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Agreement and of the Warrants shall be governed in all respects by the laws
of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflict of laws. The Company hereby agrees that any action, proceeding or claim against it arising out of
or relating in any way to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, and irrevocably submits to such jurisdiction, which jurisdiction shall be exclusive. The Company hereby waives any
objection to such exclusive jurisdiction and that such courts represent an inconvenience forum. Any such process or summons to be served upon the
12
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Company may be served by transmitting a copy thereof by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to it at the address
set forth in Section 9.2 hereof. Such mailing shall be deemed personal service and shall be legal and binding upon the Company in any action, proceeding or
claim.
9.4. Persons Having Rights under this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement expressed and nothing that may be implied from any of the provisions
hereof is intended, or shall be construed, to confer upon, or give to, any person or corporation other than the parties hereto and the registered holders of the
Warrants and, for the purposes of Sections 3.3.5, 6.1, 6.4, 7.4 and 9.2 hereof, Brenner, any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Warrant
Agreement or of any covenant, condition, stipulation, promise, or agreement hereof. Brenner shall be deemed to be a third-party beneficiary of this
Agreement with respect to Sections 3.3.5, 6.1, 6.4, 7.4 and 9.2 hereof. All covenants, conditions, stipulations, promises, and agreements contained in this
Warrant Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto (and Brenner with respect to the Sections 3.3.5, 6.1, 6.4, 7.4 and 9.2 hereof)
and their successors and assigns and of the registered holders of the Warrants.
9.5. Examination of the Warrant Agreement. A copy of this Agreement shall be available at all reasonable times at the office of the Warrant Agent in
the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, for inspection by the registered holder of any Warrant. The Warrant Agent may require any such
holder to submit his Warrant for inspection by it.
9.6. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be
an original, and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
9.7. Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience only and are not part of this Warrant Agreement and shall not affect the
interpretation thereof.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
13

Source: GTT Communications, Inc., 10-K, March 30, 2006

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties hereto as of the day and year first above written.
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Rhodric C. Hackman
Rhodric C. Hackman
President

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Herbert J. Lemmer
Herbert J. Lemmer
Vice President
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EXHIBIT 10.5
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT TRUST AGREEMENT made
as of April 11, 2005 by and between MERCATOR
PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP. (the “Company”)
and AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST
COMPANY, as Trustee (“Trustee”).

The Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 333-122303 (“Registration Statement”), for its initial public offering of securities (“IPO”) has
been declared effective as of the date hereof by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Effective Date”); and
HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC (“Brenner”) is acting as the representative of the underwriters in the IPO; and
As described in the Company’s Registration Statement, and in accordance with the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, $46,460,000 of the gross
proceeds of the IPO ($53,429,000 if the underwriters’ over-allotment option is exercised in full) will be delivered to the Trustee to be deposited and held in a
trust account for the benefit of the Company and the holders of the Company’s Class B common stock, par value $.0001 per share, issued in the IPO as
hereinafter provided and in the event the Units are registered in Colorado, pursuant to Section 11-51-302(6) of the Colorado Revised Statutes. A copy of the
Colorado Statute is attached hereto and made a part hereof (the amount to be delivered to the Trustee will be referred to herein as the “Property”; the
stockholders for whose benefit the Trustee shall hold the Property will be referred to as the “Public Stockholders,” and the Public Stockholders and the
Company will be referred to together as the “Beneficiaries”); and
The Company and the Trustee desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Trustee shall hold the
Property;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Agreements and Covenants of Trustee. The Trustee hereby agrees and covenants to:
(a) Hold the Property in trust for the Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the terms of Section 11-51-302(6) of
the Colorado Statute, in a segregated trust account (“Trust Account”) established by the Trustee at a branch of JPMorgan Chase NY Bank selected by the
Trustee;
(b) Manage, supervise and administer the Trust Account subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein;
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(c) In a timely manner, upon the instruction of the Company, to invest and reinvest the Property in any “Government Security.” As used herein,
Government Security means any Treasury Bill issued by the United States, having a maturity of one hundred and eighty days or less;
(d) Collect and receive, when due, all principal and income arising from the Property, which shall become part of the “Property,” as such term is
used herein;
(e) Notify the Company of all communications received by it with respect to any Property requiring action by the Company;
(f) Supply any necessary information or documents as may be requested by the Company in connection with the Company’s preparation of the
tax returns for the Trust Account;
(g) Participate in any plan or proceeding for protecting or enforcing any right or interest arising from the Property if, as and when instructed by
the Company to do so;
(h) Render to the Company and to Brenner, and to such other person as the Company may instruct, monthly written statements of the activities of
and amounts in the Trust Account reflecting all receipts and disbursements of the Trust Account; and
(i) Commence liquidation of the Trust Account only after receipt of and only in accordance with the terms of a letter (“Termination Letter”), in a
form substantially similar to that attached hereto as either Exhibit A or Exhibit B, signed on behalf of the Company by its President or Chairman of the Board
and Secretary, and complete the liquidation of the Trust Account and distribute the Property in the Trust Account only as directed in the Termination Letter
and the other documents referred to therein.
2. Agreements and Covenants of the Company. The Company hereby agrees and covenants to:
(a) Give all instructions to the Trustee hereunder in writing, signed by the Company’s President or Chairman of the Board. In addition, except
with respect to its duties under paragraph 1(i) above, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on, and shall be protected in relying on, any verbal or telephonic
advice or instruction which it in good faith believes to be given by any one of the persons authorized above to give written instructions, provided that the
Company shall promptly confirm such instructions in writing;
(b) Hold the Trustee harmless and indemnify the Trustee from and against, any and all expenses, including reasonable counsel fees and
disbursements, or loss suffered by the Trustee in connection with any action, suit or other proceeding brought against the Trustee involving any claim, or in
connection with any claim or demand which in any way arises out of or relates to this Agreement, the services of the Trustee hereunder, or the Property or any
income earned from investment of the Property, except for expenses and losses resulting from the Trustee’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Promptly
after the receipt by the Trustee of notice of demand or claim or the commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, pursuant to which the
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Trustee intends to seek indemnification under this paragraph, it shall notify the Company in writing of such claim (hereinafter referred to as the “Indemnified
Claim”). The Trustee shall have the right to conduct and manage the defense against such Indemnified Claim, provided, that the Trustee shall obtain the
consent of the Company with respect to the selection of counsel, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Company may participate in such
action with its own counsel; and
(c) Pay the Trustee an initial acceptance fee of $1,000 and an annual fee of $3,000 (it being expressly understood that the Property shall not be
used to pay such fee). The Company shall pay the Trustee the initial acceptance fee and first year’s fee at the consummation of the IPO and thereafter on the
anniversary of the Effective Date. The Trustee shall refund to the Company the fee (on a pro rata basis) with respect to any period after the liquidation of the
Trust Fund. The Company shall not be responsible for any other fees or charges of the Trustee except as may be provided in paragraph 2(b) hereof (it being
expressly understood that the Property shall not be used to make any payments to the Trustee under such paragraph).
3. Limitations of Liability. The Trustee shall have no responsibility or liability to:
(a) Take any action with respect to the Property, other than as directed in paragraph 1 hereof and the Trustee shall have no liability to any party
except for liability arising out of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct;
(b) Institute any proceeding for the collection of any principal and income arising from, or institute, appear in or defend any proceeding of any
kind with respect to, any of the Property unless and until it shall have received instructions from the Company given as provided herein to do so and the
Company shall have advanced or guaranteed to it funds sufficient to pay any expenses incident thereto;
(c) Change the investment of any Property, other than in compliance with paragraph 1(c);
(d) Refund any depreciation in principal of any Property;
(e) Assume that the authority of any person designated by the Company to give instructions hereunder shall not be continuing unless provided
otherwise in such designation, or unless the Company shall have delivered a written revocation of such authority to the Trustee;
(f) The other parties hereto or to anyone else for any action taken or omitted by it, or any action suffered by it to be taken or omitted, in good
faith and in the exercise of its own best judgment, except for its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Trustee may rely conclusively and shall be
protected in acting upon any order, notice, demand, certificate, opinion or advice of counsel (including counsel chosen by the Trustee), statement,
instrument, report or other paper or document (not only as to its due execution and the validity and effectiveness of its provisions, but also as to the truth and
acceptability of any information therein contained) which is believed by the Trustee, in good faith, to be genuine and to be signed or presented by the proper
person or persons. The Trustee shall not be bound by any notice or demand, or any waiver,
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modification, termination or rescission of this agreement or any of the terms hereof, unless evidenced by a written instrument delivered to the Trustee signed
by the proper party or parties and, if the duties or rights of the Trustee are affected, unless it shall give its prior written consent thereto;
(g) Verify the correctness of the information set forth in the Registration Statement or to confirm or assure that any acquisition made by the
Company or any other action taken by it is as contemplated by the Registration Statement; and
(h) Pay any taxes on behalf of the Trust Account (it being expressly understood that the Property shall not be used to pay any such taxes and that
such taxes, if any, shall be paid by the Company from funds not held in the Trust Account).
4. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate as follows:
(a) If the Trustee gives written notice to the Company that it desires to resign under this Agreement, the Company shall use its reasonable efforts
to locate a successor trustee. At such time that the Company notifies the Trustee that a successor trustee has been appointed by the Company and has agreed
to become subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Trustee shall transfer the management of the Trust Account to the successor trustee, including but not
limited to the transfer of copies of the reports and statements relating to the Trust Account, whereupon this Agreement shall terminate; provided, however,
that, in the event that the Company does not locate a successor trustee within ninety days of receipt of the resignation notice from the Trustee, the Trustee
may submit an application to have the Property deposited with the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and upon such deposit,
the Trustee shall be immune from any liability whatsoever;
(b) At such time that the Trustee has completed the liquidation of the Trust Account in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1(i) hereof,
and distributed the Property in accordance with the provisions of the Termination Letter, this Agreement shall terminate except with respect to Paragraph
2(b); or
(c) On such date after April 11, 2006 when the Trustee deposits the Property with the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York in the event that, prior to such date, the Trustee has not received a Termination Letter from the Company pursuant to paragraph 1(i).
5. Miscellaneous.
(a) The Company and the Trustee each acknowledge that the Trustee will follow the security procedures set forth below with respect to funds
transferred from the Trust Account. Upon receipt of written instructions, the Trustee will confirm such instructions with an Authorized Individual at an
Authorized Telephone Number listed on the attached Exhibit C. The Company and the Trustee will each restrict access to confidential information relating to
such security procedures to authorized persons. Each party must notify the other party immediately if it has reason to believe unauthorized persons may have
obtained access to such information, or of any
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change in its authorized personnel. In executing funds transfers, the Trustee will rely upon account numbers or other identifying numbers of a beneficiary,
beneficiary’s bank or intermediary bank, rather than names. The Trustee shall not be liable for any loss, liability or expense resulting from any error in an
account number or other identifying number, provided it has accurately transmitted the numbers provided.
(b) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect
to conflict of laws. It may be executed in several counterparts, each one of which shall constitute an original, and together shall constitute but one instrument.
(c) This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. This
Agreement or any provision hereof may only be changed, amended or modified by a writing signed by each of the parties hereto; provided, however, that no
such change, amendment or modification may be made without the prior written consent of Brenner. As to any claim, cross-claim or counterclaim in any way
relating to this Agreement, each party waives the right to trial by jury.
(d) The parties hereto consent to the jurisdiction and venue of any state or federal court located in the City of New York for purposes of resolving
any disputes hereunder.
(e) Any notice, consent or request to be given in connection with any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
sent by express mail or similar private courier service, by certified mail (return receipt requested), by hand delivery or by facsimile transmission:
if to the Trustee, to:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
Attn:
Fax No.:
if to the Company, to:
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
One Fountain Square,
11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 1080,
Reston, Virginia 20190
Attn: Rhodric C. Hackman, President
Fax No.: (703) 995-5535
in either case with a copy to:
HCFP/Brenner Securities LLC
888 Seventh Avenue, 17 th Floor
New York, New York 10106
Attn: Ira Greenspan
Fax No.: (212) 707-0378
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(f) This Agreement may not be assigned by the Trustee without the prior consent of the Company.
(g) Each of the Trustee and the Company hereby represents that it has the full right and power and has been duly authorized to enter into this
Agreement and to perform its respective obligations as contemplated hereunder. The Trustee acknowledges and agrees that it shall not make any claims or
proceed against the Trust Account, including by way of set-off, and shall not be entitled to any funds in the Trust Account under any circumstance.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Investment Management Trust Agreement as of the date first written above.
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST
COMPANY, as Trustee
By:
/s/ Herbert J. Lemmer
Name: Herbert J. Lemmer
Title: Vice President
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION
CORP.
By:
/s/ Rhodric C. Hackman
Name: Rhodric C. Hackman
Title: President
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EXHIBIT A
[Letterhead of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.]
[Insert date]
American Stock Transfer
& Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
Attn:
Re:

Trust Account No. [

] Termination Letter

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Pursuant to paragraph 1(i) of the Investment Management Trust Agreement between Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (“Company”) and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Trustee (“Trustee”), dated as of April 11, 2005 (“Trust Agreement”), this is to advise you that the Company has
entered into an agreement (“Business Agreement”) with
(“Target Business”) to consummate a business combination with Target Business
(“Business Combination”) on or about [insert date]. The Company shall notify you at least 48 hours in advance of the actual date of the consummation of the
Business Combination (“Consummation Date”).
In accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, we hereby authorize you to commence liquidation of the Trust Account to the effect that,
on the Consummation Date, all of funds held in the Trust Account will be immediately available for transfer to the account or accounts that the Company
shall direct on the Consummation Date.
On the Consummation Date (i) counsel for the Company shall deliver to you written notification that (a) the Business Combination has been
consummated and (b) the provisions of Section 11-51-302(6) and Rule 51-3.4 of the Colorado Statute have been met}, and (ii) the Company shall deliver to
you written instructions with respect to the transfer of the funds held in the Trust Account (“Instruction Letter”). You are hereby directed and authorized to
transfer the funds held in the Trust Account immediately upon your receipt of the counsel’s letter and the Instruction Letter, in accordance with the terms of
the Instruction Letter. In the event that certain deposits held in the Trust Account may not be liquidated by the Consummation Date without penalty, you will
notify the Company of the same and the Company shall direct you as to whether such funds should remain in the Trust Account and distributed after the
Consummation Date to the Company. Upon the distribution of all the funds in the Trust Account pursuant to the terms hereof, the Trust Agreement shall be
terminated.
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In the event that the Business Combination is not consummated on the Consummation Date described in the notice thereof and we have not
notified you on or before the original Consummation Date of a new Consummation Date, then the funds held in the Trust Account shall be reinvested as
provided in the Trust Agreement on the business day immediately following the Consummation Date as set forth in the notice.
Very truly yours,
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION
CORP.
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT B
[Letterhead of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.]
[Insert date]
American Stock Transfer
& Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
Attn:
Re:

Trust Account No. [

] Termination Letter

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Pursuant to paragraph 1(i) of the Investment Management Trust Agreement between Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (“Company”) and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (“Trustee”), dated as of April 11, 2005 (“Trust Agreement”), this is to advise you that the Company has been
unable to effect a Business Combination with a Target Company within the time frame specified in the Company’s prospectus relating to its IPO.
In accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, we hereby (a) certify to you that the provisions of Section 11-51-302(6) and Rule 51-3.4 of
the Colorado Statute have been met and (b) authorize and direct you to commence liquidation of the Trust Account. You will notify the Company and JP
Morgan Chase NY Bank (“Designated Paying Agent”) in writing as to when all of the funds in the Trust Account will be available for immediate transfer
(“Transfer Date”). The Designated Paying Agent shall thereafter notify you as to the account or accounts of the Designated Paying Agent that the funds in the
Trust Account should be transferred to on the Transfer Date so that the Designated Paying Agent may commence distribution of such funds in accordance
with the Company’s instructions. You shall have no obligation to oversee the Designated Paying Agent’s distribution of the funds. Upon the payment to the
Designated Paying Agent of all the funds in the Trust Account, the Trust Agreement shall be terminated.
Very truly yours,
MERCATOR PARTNERS ACQUISITION CORP.
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT C
AUTHORIZED INDIVIDUAL(S)
FOR TELEPHONE CALL BACK

AUTHORIZED
TELEPHONE NUMBER(S)

Company:
Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp.
One Fountain Square
11911 Freedom Drive, Suite 590
Reston, Virginia 20190

(703) 995-5534

Trustee:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
Attn:

Source: GTT Communications, Inc., 10-K, March 30, 2006

(212) 936-5100

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Exhibit 31.1
RULE 13a-14(a)/15(d-14(a) CERTIFICATION
I, H. Brian Thompson, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (the “Registrant”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosures controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have:

(5)

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 29, 2006
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/s/ H. Brian Thompson
H. Brian Thompson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
RULE 13a-14(a)/15(d-14(a) CERTIFICATION
I, David Ballarini, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (the “Registrant”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosures controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have:

(5)

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 29, 2006
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/s/ David Ballarini
David Ballarini
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION
The undersigned hereby certifies that the Annual Report on From 10-K of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (the “Registrant”) for the period from
inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of the Registrant.
Dated: March 29, 2006
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/s/ H. Brian Thompson
H. Brian Thompson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION
The undersigned hereby certifies that the Annual Report on From 10-K of Mercator Partners Acquisition Corp. (the “Registrant”) for the period from
inception (January 3, 2005) to December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of the Registrant.
Dated: March 29, 2006
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/s/ David Ballarini
David Ballarini
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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